Dissertation submitted to the

Combined Faculties for the Natural Sciences and for Mathematics of the Ruperto-Carola University of Heidelberg, Germany for the degree of Doctor of Natural Sciences

presented by

Master Sci. *Waleed M. Adel Barakat* born in: *Belbies, El-Sharkia, Egypt* Oral-examination: -01-2009. Regulation of Prostaglandin E₂ release in cerebral ischemia

Referees: Prof. Dr. Ulrich Hilgenfeldt Prof. Dr. Markus Schwaninger Dedicated to my family

Acknowledgements

All the experiments of my dissertation were done in the lab of Prof. Dr. Markus Schwaninger to whom I would like to express my deepest thankfulness for giving me the opportunity to join his lab, for his help and support both scientifically and personally during all the duration of my stay in Germany and for providing a nice friendly working atmosphere for me and for the whole research group, I would like also to thank Prof. Dr. Ulrich Hilgenfeldt for his support during this dissertation.

I would like to express my deepest thanks and appreciation to my family for their continuous love and support during my whole life which formed the perfect environment for me to give my best effort in research.

I am also very grateful to all my colleagues and teachers at the faculty of Pharmacy, Zagazig University, Egypt for their continuous effort and support.

This dissertation owes its existence to the help provided by many people whom I already mentioned and others who provided equivalent support.

I am very grateful to Dr. Kevin J. Tracey (Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, Manhasset, USA) for providing anti-HMGB1 antibody, Dr. N. Van Rooijen (Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Amesterdam, The Netherlands) for providing clodronate and PBS containing liposomes, Dr. B. Baumann (Institute of Physiological Chemistry, University of Ulm, Germany) for providing the constitutively active IKK2 constructs and mice expressing dominant inhibitor of IKK2 in neurons, Dr. Hiroaki Naraba (Iwate Medical University, Japan) for providing the mPGES-1 constructs Caspar Grond-Ginsbach and Annette Biessman (Kopfklinik, Heidelberg, Germany) for their help in sequencing the constructs, PD Dr. Anne Regnier-Vigouroux (Deutsche Krebs Forschung Zentrum, Heidelberg, Germany) for providing microglial cultures and the protocol to prepare them, Prof. Dr. Angelika Bierhaus, Stoyan Stoyanov and Axel Erhadt for providing RAGEko animals and sRAGE, Ira Maegla for her help with RT-PCR and cell culture experiments, Dr. Jens Kleesiek for his help with RT-PCR procedures, Dr. Ioana Inta (Kinderklinik,

Heidelberg, Germany) for her technical advices concerning cell culture procedures and for providing the RcCMV-p65 plasmid, Dr. Ming-Fei Lang for the productive and technical discussions regarding cloning experiments, Dr. Sajjad Muhammad for providing brain samples and sections from mice subjected to MCAO, Sasidhar Murikinati for providing brain sections from mice subjected to MCAO, CD11b-DTR mice and cDNA from microglia, Dr Antje Krenz for translating the summary into German and all my other colleagues in the research group of Prof. Schwaninger and in the Institute of Pharmacology, Heidelberg University for their support and scientifically productive discussions.

Last but not least I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the Egyptian Government (Ministry of higher education, Cultural and study-mission department, LX 048) for financing me and for their continuous support during the whole period of my dissertation.

Contents

Acknowledgements I				
Summary				
Zusammenfassung				
1. Introduc	tion	5		
1.1. De	efinition and impact of stroke	5		
1.2. Me	echanism of damage associated with stroke	6		
1.2.1.	Reactive oxygen species in ischemia	7		
1.2.2.	Adhesion molecules in ischemia	8		
1.2.3.	Matrix metalloproteinases in ischemia	8		
1.2.4.	Transcription factors in ischemia	9		
	1.2.4.a. Nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) in ischemia	9		
	1.2.4.b. Other transcription factors in ischemia	12		
1.2.5.	Role of cytokines in ischemia	13		
	1.2.5.a. Role of TNF in ischemia	13		
	1.2.5.b. Role of interleukin-1 (IL-1) family in ischemia	14		
	1.2.5.c. Role of other cytokines in ischemia	15		
1.2.6.	Role of nitric oxide in ischemia	15		
1.2.7.	Role of arachidonic acid and its metabolites in ischemia	15		
	1.2.7.a. Role of phospholipase A-2 (PLA-2) in ischemia	17		
	1.2.7.b. Role of cyclooxygenase (COX) in ischemia	18		
	1.2.7.c. Role of prostaglandin E synthase (PGES) in ischemia .	19		
	1.2.7.d. Role of prostaglandin E_2 (PGE2) in ischemia	19		
1.2.8.	Role of High Mobility Group Box-1 in ischemia	21		
	1.2.8.a. Role of Receptor for Advanced Glycation End products	00		
		23		
Aim of the study 2				
2. Materials	s and methods	26		
2.1. Ce	Il culture	26		
2.1.1.	Preparation of glial cultures (Astrocytes/Microglia)	27		
2.1.2.	Depletion of microglia from mixed glial cultures	28		
2.1.3.	Cortical Neuron Preparation	28		
2.1.4.	Isolation of peritoneal macrophages	30		

2.2. Oxygen Glucose Deprivation (OGD)	31
2.3. Quantification of cell death	31
2.3.1. Quantification of cell death and lysis by measurement of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity	31
2.3.2. Detection of cytoplasmic histone-associated-DNA-fragments	
(mono-and oligonucleosomes)	32
2.4. Quantification of Prostaglandin E_2 (PGE ₂) release	33
2.5. RNA extraction and reverse transcription	34
	34
	35
	35
2.6. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), Reverse transcription-PCR (RT- PCR) and Real-Time RT-PCR	35
2.6.1. Real time RT-PCR	35
2.6.2. RT-PCR	36
2.6.3. Genotyping of CD11b-DTR mice	38
2.7. Immunohistochemistry	41
2.7.1. Anti-Neuronal Nuclei (NeuN)-Staining	42
2.7.2. Anti-Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP)-Staining	42
2.7.3. Anti-ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba-1)-Staining	42
2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining	43
2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining	43 43
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- 	43 43
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 	43 43 44
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 	43 43 44 44
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR	43 43 44 44 48
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 	43 43 44 44 48 49
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 	43 43 44 44 48 49 49
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 	43 43 44 44 48 49 49 50
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation	43 43 44 44 48 49 49 50 51
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 	43 43 44 44 48 49 50 51 51
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 2.8.7. Transformation 	43 43 44 44 49 49 50 51 51 51
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)-Staining	43 43 44 44 48 49 49 50 51 51 51 52 53
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 2.8.7. Transformation 2.8.8. Colony PCR 2.8.9. Purification of the plasmid 	43 43 44 44 49 49 50 51 51 51 52 53 54
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 2.8.7. Transformation 2.8.8. Colony PCR 2.8.9. Purification of the plasmid 2.8.9.1. PureYield Plasmid Midiprep System (Promega) 	43 43 44 44 48 49 50 51 51 51 52 53 54 54
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 2.8.7. Transformation 2.8.8. Colony PCR 2.8.9. Purification of the plasmid 2.8.9.1. PureYield Plasmid Midiprep System (Promega) 2.8.9.2. Plasmid purification maxi kit (Qiagen) 	43 43 44 44 49 49 50 51 51 52 53 54 54 55
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 2.8.7. Transformation 2.8.8. Colony PCR 2.8.9. Purification of the plasmid 2.8.9.1. Pure Yield Plasmid Midiprep System (Promega) 2.8.10. Sequencing	43 43 44 44 48 49 49 50 51 51 51 52 53 54 55 55
 2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1)-Staining 2.7.5. Anti-cluster of differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b)-Staining 2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE)- Staining 2.8. Cloning 2.8. Cloning PCR 2.8.1. Cloning PCR 2.8.2. PCR product purification 2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes 2.8.4. Gel purification 2.8.5. Ligation 2.8.6. Generation of Competent cells HB101 2.8.7. Transformation 2.8.9. Purification of the plasmid 2.8.9.1. PureYield Plasmid Midiprep System (Promega) 2.8.10. Sequencing 2.9 Transfection 	43 43 44 48 49 50 51 51 52 53 54 55 55 56

	2.9.1. Transfection of a single plasmid	56
	2.9.2. Transfection of a multiple plasmids	57
	2.10. Luciferase Assay	57
	2.11. Dual Luciferase Assay	59
	2.12. Statistics	59
2	Deculto	60
3.	Results	00
	3.1. Neuronal IKK2 is essential for arachidonic acid cascade activation following ischemia	60
	3.2. Oxygen glucose deprivation activates NF-κB and arachidonic acid cascade genes	62
	3.3. Tumor necrosis factor activates NF-κB and the arachidonic acid cascade genes expression	65
	3.4. TNF activation of NF-κB enhances the transcriptional activity of the arachidonic acid cascade genes	69
	3.5. Oxygen glucose deprivation-associated toxicity of primary cortical neurons is mediated through High mobility group box 1 protein release	74
	3.6. Recombinant HMGB1 is not toxic to primary cortical neurons and does not activate NF-κB nor the expression of genes in the arachidonic acid cascade	75
	3.7. Neuronal glial interaction mediates the toxic effect of HMGB1	78
	neural cultures	81
	neural cultures	85
	of HMGB1	90
	glia	94
4.	Discussion	97
	4.1. Summary of the results	97
	4.2. Mechanisms of stroke associated damage	98
	4.3. Stroke induces the arachidonic acid cascade genes through NF-κB activation	99
	4.4. OGD induces the arachidonic acid cascade genes and NF-κB	100
	4.5. TNF induces the arachidonic acid cascade genes and NF-κB	101
	4.6. HMGB1 is associated with ischemia induced neuronal cell death	102
	4.7. HMGB1 is not acting through NF-κB nor the arachidonic acid cascade in primary cortical neurops	103
	4.8. Neuronal glial interaction mediates the toxic effects of HMGB1	103

4.9. HMGB1 is toxic to neurons in mixed neural culture	104		
4.10. RAGE on glia is essential for the neurotoxic effect of HMGB1	104		
4.12. Suggested model for the interaction between neurons and microglia after ischemia	106		
Abbreviations	108		
References	111		
Publication	124		
Curriculum Vitae	125		

Summary

Arachidonic acid (AA) and its metabolites are implicated in the induction and/or resolution of inflammation. Prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) is a metabolite of AA that is known to have neurotoxic effects in several pathophysiological conditions such as ischemia. PGE₂ is produced as a result of the combined activities of several genes including, cytosolic phospholipase A-2 (cPLA-2), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and microsomal prostaglandin E2 synthase-1 (mPGES-1).

We have shown that the genes responsible for PGE₂ synthesis were upregulated following ischemia both *in vivo* in mice subjected to middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) and *in vitro* in primary cortical neurons subjected to oxygen glucose deprivation (OGD).

We also provided *in vivo* and *in vitro* evidence that this upregulation was dependent on NF- κ B signaling. *In vivo*, mice expressing an inhibitor of the NF- κ B pathway in neurons showed an abolished upregulation of the AA cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 after MCAO. *In vitro*, reporter fusion genes in which the promoter sequence for each of the three AA cascade genes was inserted into a promoterless vector showed that the NF- κ B activators TNF, constitutively active IKK2 or p65 stimulated the transcription of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 in primary neurons providing evidence for the involvement of NF- κ B in the regulation of these genes.

High mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), a nuclear protein, was recently shown to have a cytokine like activity acting as a late mediator of inflammation in several models of inflammation by acting on one or more receptors including receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and Toll like receptors (TLR-2 and -4).

HMGB1 was shown in our study to have a role in mediating the toxic effect observed after OGD in primary cortical neurons and in mixed neural cultures containing neurons, astrocytes and microglia. Neurons released HMGB1 after OGD and blocking the effects of HMGB1 using the decoy receptor sRAGE was protective. However, stimulation with recombinant HMGB1 was only toxic to mixed

neural cultures and this effect was mediated through RAGE on microglia which responded to HMGB1 by the production of PGE_2 which further promotes neurotoxicity.

Zusammenfassung

Arachidonsäure (AS) und ihre Stoffwechselprodukte sind an der Induktion und/oder Beseitigung von Entzündungen beteiligt. Prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) ist ein Stoffwechselprodukt von AS, das für seine neurotoxische Wirkung in verschiedenen pathophysiologischen Prozessen bekannt ist. PGE₂ entsteht durch die Aktivität der zytosolischen Phospholipase A-2 (cPLA-2), der Cylcooxygenase-2 (COX-2) und der microsomale Prostaglandin E_2 Synthetase (mPGES-1).

In dieser Arbeit konnte gezeigt werden, dass die für die PGE₂-Synthese verantwortlichen Gene infolge einer Ischämie sowohl *in vivo* nach Okklusion der *Arteria cerebri media* der Maus (middle cerebral artery occlusion, MCAO), als auch *in vitro* nach Sauerstoff-Glukose-Deprivation (oxygen glucose deprivation, OGD) primärer cortikaler Neuronen, hochreguliert werden.

Außerdem wurden *in vivo* und *in vitro* Hinweise auf eine NF-κB-Abhängigkeit dieser Hochregulierung geliefert. *In vivo* zeigten Mäuse, die einen Inhibitor des NF-κB-Signawegs exprimieren, eine reduzierte Hochregulierung der Gene der Prostaglandin-Synthese cPLA-2, COX-2 und mPGES-1 nach MCAO. *In vitro* konnte durch Reporterfusionsgene, in welchen die Promotorsequenz jeweils eines der drei AS-Kaskadengene in einen Promotor-losen Vektor eingefügt wurden, gezeigt werden, dass der NF-κB-Aktivator TNF, oder Überexpression der konstitutiv aktive IKK2 oder p65 die Transkription von mPGES-1, cPLA-2 und COX-2 in primären corticalen Neuronen stimulieren, was auf eine Beteiligung von NF-κB an der Regulation dieser Gene hinweist.

Das *High Mobility Group Box 1 Protein* (HMGB1) ist ein nukleäres Protein, dessen Cytokin-ähnliche Aktivität in verschiedenen Entzündungsmodellen als später Entzündungsmediator mit Einfluss auf einen oder mehrere Rezeptoren wie *Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Product* (RAGE) und *Toll-like Receptor* (TL-2 und TL-4), kürzlich entdeckt wurde.

Die vorliegende Studie zeigt, dass HMGB1 eine Rolle in der Vermittlung toxischer Effekte der OGD in primären corticalen Neuronen und in gemischten Kulturen aus Neuronen, Astrozyten und Mikroglia spielt. Neuronen setzten HMGB1 nach OGD frei, während eine Blockierung des HMGB1-Effekts unter Verwendung des löslicher Rezeptors sRAGE protektiv wirkte. Die Stimulation mit rekombinantem HMGB1 hatte nur eine toxische Wirkung auf gemischte Kulturen. Dieser Effekt wurde durch die Wirkung von RAGE auf Mikroglia vermittelt, die auf HMGB1 mit der Produktion von PGE₂ reagierten, was die Neurotoxizität weiter verstärkte.

2. Introduction

2.1. Definition and impact of stroke

Stroke is the third leading cause of death and the leading cause of long-term disability (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008), and more than 30 % of stroke survivors will have severe disability (A. R. Green, 2008). Stroke is primarily a vascular disease with a neurological outcome (A. R. Green, 2008). Stroke can be hemorrhagic caused by rupture of a cerebral blood vessel (12%) or ischemic caused by occlusion of a cerebral artery. Ischemic stroke might be either thrombolic in which a clot or thrombus is formed in a cerebral artery and blocks blood flow at the site of formation or embolic, where a cerebral artery is blocked by a clot formed elsewhere and carried to the brain through the circulation (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008).

Cerebral ischemia may be global which results from the transient cessation of blood flow to the brain (as in case of cardiac arrest) and is associated with problems of cognition and memory, sensorimotor deficits, seizures and death (C. K. Petito et al., 1987). Focal cerebral ischemia refers to local interruption of blood flow to the brain due to blockade of a major cerebral artery which results in disruption of glucose and oxygen supply leading to apoptotic and necrotic cell death. In focal ischemia there is an ischemic core surrounded by a "penumbra" region that has partial reduction in blood flow due to collateral arteries. The ischemic core is generally considered unsalvageable, whereas the penumbra may be rescued otherwise the infarct can propagate into the penumbra (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008).

On average, the impact of stroke on the nervous tissue is severe as patients with acute ischemic stroke are estimated to lose 120 million neurons, 830 billion synapses and 714 km of myelinated fibers each hour which when compared with the normal rate of neuronal loss during aging would mean that the ischemic brain will age 3.6 years for every hour the stroke is untreated (J. L. Saver, 2006). Despite this, the only treatment of ischemic stroke available is recanalization of the occluded vessel by thrombolysis. The thrombolytic compound tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA), which degrades the fibrin clot blocking the blood flow to the brain tissue, is the

only Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved agent for stroke therapy in humans (J. T. Lang and L. D. McCullough, 2008). However, thrombolysis is safe and effective only within 3 hours of the onset of symptoms and is not suitable for many patients (J. F. Maestre-Moreno et al., 2005; E. Juttler et al., 2006). This short time window results in a low treatment rate and warrants safer treatment regimes.

2.2. Mechanism of damage associated with stroke

Although different mechanisms are involved in the pathogenesis of stroke, there is increasing evidence that inflammation accounts for its progression at least acutely (F. C. Barone and G. Z. Feuerstein, 1999; Y. Samson et al., 2005; A. Chamorro and J. Hallenbeck, 2006). During ischemia, the cessation of blood flow, the energy loss and the necrotic cell death initiate an immune response, activate inflammatory cells (microglia/macrophages) and generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) including hydroxyl radical, superoxide anion radical, and hydrogen peroxide. ROS can further stimulate the ischemic cells to release cytokines causing up-regulation of adhesion molecules and mobilization and activation of leukocytes (M. L. Alexandrova and P. G. Bochev, 2005) (Figure 1.1). Also the influx of calcium following ischemia induces the production of ROS (D. Tassoni et al., 2008).

In addition, reperfusion of the occluded vessel leads to the formation of ROS, which stimulate ischemic cells to further secrete cytokines, chemokines, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), nitric oxide (NO) and more ROS causing further cell damage and disruption of the blood brain barrier (BBB) and extracellular matrix (H. C. Emsley and P. J. Tyrrell, 2002; G. H. Danton and W. D. Dietrich, 2003). Calcium influx associated with ischemia stimulates phospholipases, which act on membrane phospholipids releasing huge amounts of arachidonic acid (AA). AA is then metabolized by the cyclooxygenase (COX) to produce eicosanoids, which are actively involved in the neuroinflammatory response occurring after ischemia (S. D. Hurley et al., 2002; Y. Gilgun-Sherki et al., 2006).

Focal ischemia is accompanied by an increase in the levels of several cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukines IL-1 β and IL-6, and several

chemokines such as monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP1α)(T. Liu et al., 1994; X. Wang et al., 1994; J. S. Kim et al., 1995; X. Wang et al., 1995; M. A. Soriano et al., 2000; A. Lu et al., 2003; R. Kapadia et al., 2006). All of these inflammatory mediators are known to increase the expression of adhesion molecules such as intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), P-selectin and E-selectin on endothelial cells and white blood cells (M. L. Dustin et al., 1986; M. P. Bevilacqua et al., 1987; O. Abbassi et al., 1993; M. J. Eppihimer et al., 1996; G. Stoll et al., 1998)(Figure 1.1).

2.2.1. Reactive oxygen species in ischemia

ROS cause oxidative damage to nucleic acids, proteins, carbohydrates and lipids, normally there are intracellular defense mechanisms to detoxify ROS but when the production of ROS exceeds the cells capacity to detoxify them, there is a decline in physiological functions and progressive cell damage (oxidative stress). The brain is highly sensitive to that condition (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008).



Figure 1.1. Cellular and molecular events following ischemia, after Z. Zheng and M. A Yenari, 2004.

2.2.2. Adhesion molecules in ischemia

Expression of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 on endothelial cells and white blood cells is a key step in brain inflammation following stroke that facilitates the adhesion and transendothelial migration of neutrophils, lymphocytes (S. L. Stevens et al., 2002; G. Z. Li et al., 2005) and macrophages into the brain. Leukocytes release several pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and oxygen/nitrogen free radicals, leading to secondary tissue damage within the penumbra (Q. Wang et al., 2007). According to recent evidence, preventing the infiltration of neutrophils or lymphocytes into the ischemic brain ameliorated the ischemic injury (K. Becker et al., 2001; A. Garau et al., 2005). Infiltration of leukocytes into the brain involves rolling, adhesion and transendothelial migration (Q. Wang et al., 2007). Three groups of cell adhesion molecules mediate the interaction between leukocytes and the endothelium: selectins (P-, E- and L-), members of the immunoglobulin superfamily (intracellular adhesion molecule, ICAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule, VCAM-1) and integrins (H. C. Emsley and P. J. Tyrrell, 2002).

Blocking selectins (P- and E- selectin) improved stroke outcome (J. Mocco et al., 2002), while, blocking L-selectin did not (M. A. Yenari et al., 2001). Similarly, blocking ICAM-1 with antibodies (Y. Kanemoto et al., 2002), with antisense oligonucleotides (R. Vemuganti et al., 2004) or even with nitric oxide donors preventing elevation of ICAM after ischemia/reperfusion (M. Khan et al., 2006) improved the outcome in experimental stroke. Inhibition of the ischemia-induced upregulation of VCAM was also reported to reduce infarct size (L. H. Zhang and E. Q. Wei, 2003; A. Cervera et al., 2004). Similarly, blockade of neutrophil CD11b after hypoxia was shown to be protective (H. Chen et al., 1994; D. Harmon et al., 2004).

2.2.3. Matrix metalloproteinases in ischemia

In addition to the locally secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines, which act directly on endothelial cells causing increased BBB permeability (G. Y. Yang et al., 1999), there is an increase in the expression and activation of MMPs, plasminogen activators and serine proteases (G. del Zoppo et al., 2000), which are also associated with BBB damage and neuronal injury following experimental ischemia

(J. H. Heo et al., 1999; G. del Zoppo et al., 2000). In addition, inhibition of MMPs reduces infarct size after ischemia (T. Pfefferkorn and G. A. Rosenberg, 2003). However, MMPs may participate in plasticity and recovery at late phases of ischemia probably through an effect on angiogenesis and neurovascular remodeling (B. Q. Zhao et al., 2006).

2.2.4. Transcription factors in ischemia

Transcription factors play an important role in controlling gene expression under normal and inflammatory conditions. Several transcription factors were reported to be induced following ischemia, some of which are known to prevent ischemic neuronal damage and/or promote ischemic tolerance such as hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), c-fos and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR- γ) (K. Tanaka et al., 2000a; K. Tanaka et al., 2000b; S. Cho et al., 2001; K. Maeda et al., 2001). In contrast, the induction of several other transcription factors promotes inflammation and neuronal cell death following ischemia. Examples of the latter group are activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), early growth response-1 (Egr1) and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) beta (C/EBP β) (A. M. Planas et al., 1996; M. Bergeron et al., 1999; C. ladecola et al., 1999; B. R. Hu et al., 2000; I. M. Johansson et al., 2000; D. Stephenson et al., 2000; S. F. Yan et al., 2000; K. Tanaka et al., 2000a; K. Tanaka et al., 2000b; A. J. Williams et al., 2003; A. Nurmi et al., 2004; R. Kapadia et al., 2006; K. Tureyen et al., 2007).

1.2.4.a. Nuclear factor kappa В (NF-кВ) in ischemia

Nuclear factor (kappa) B (NF- κ B) was first described in 1986 as a nuclear factor necessary for immunoglobulin kappa light chain transcription in B cells (Z. Zheng and M. A. Yenari, 2004). It represents a family of proteins that share a highly conserved 300 amino acid N-terminal domain called Rel homology domain (RHD). The RHD contains a nuclear localization sequence (NLS) and is involved in dimerization, sequence specific DNA binding and interaction with the inhibitory I κ B proteins (S. Ghosh et al., 1998). NF- κ B/Rel proteins include five members, which

can form homodimers or heterodimers: NF-κB1 (p105/p50), NF-κB2 (p100/p52), RelA (p65), RelB and c-Rel (G. Bonizzi and M. Karin, 2004).

In most cell types, NF- κ B dimers are retained in the cytoplasm (in an inactive state) by I κ Bs, which are specific inhibitors that bind to the RHD and interfere with its NLS function. The translocation of NF- κ B dimers from the cytoplasm to the nucleus occurs via the classical pathway and an alternative pathway (G. Bonizzi and M. Karin, 2004; M. Karin and F. R. Greten, 2005).

In the classical pathway, pro-inflammatory cytokines activate the IkB kinase (IKK) complex which consists of the IKK1 and IKK2 catalytic subunits and the IKK3 regulatory subunit (NEMO for 'NF-kB essential modulator'). In this pathway, the activated IKK complex, predominantly acting through IKK2 in an IKK3-dependent manner, catalyzes the phosphorylation of IkB followed by polyubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation of IkBs releasing NF-kB dimers (p50–ReIA dimer) which then translocate to the nucleus. Nuclear NF-kB then binds DNA and activates gene transcription (S. Ghosh and M. Karin, 2002).

In the alternative pathway of NF- κ B activation, IKK1 homodimers phosphorylate NF- κ B2/p100 dimers followed by polyubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (G. Xiao et al., 2001) (Figure 1.2).

NF-κB controls the transcription of several pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1β, TNF and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and chemokines as IL-8, MIP-1α, which attract inflammatory cells to the site of stimulation (P. J. Nelson et al., 1993; N. Mukaida et al., 1994; U. Siebenlist et al., 1994; A. Ueda et al., 1994). NF-κB also induces the expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin on endothelial cells, which facilitate the adherence of inflammatory cells (A. van de Stolpe et al., 1994; M. F. Iademarco et al., 1995). Thus, NF-κB proteins lie in the heart of most inflammatory responses.



Figure 1.2. NF-KB activation, after M. Karin and F. R. Greten 2005.

Introduction

Some of the down-stream target genes of NF- κ B, e.g., IL-1 β and TNF, can reactivate NF- κ B itself resulting in a positive feedback activation loop of NF- κ B (P. J. Barnes and I. M. Adcock, 1998). However, the transcription of the I κ B gene is regulated by NF- κ B and activation of NF- κ B induces the expression of I κ B, which enters the nucleus, binds NF- κ B and transports it out to the cytoplasm forming a negative feedback control of the activity of NF- κ B (Z. Zheng and M. A. Yenari, 2004).

Activation of NF- κ B was reported following ischemia (A. Schneider et al., 1999; H. Seegers et al., 2000; D. Stephenson et al., 2000). Inhibition of NF- κ B activity reduces the infarct size (A. Nurmi et al., 2004) and mice deficient in p50 develop smaller infarcts after focal ischemia (A. Schneider et al., 1999). The activation of NF- κ B following ischemia might involve TNF (G. I. Botchkina et al., 1999), IL-1 (S. L. Dunn et al., 2002) and may depend on ionotropic glutamate receptors and L-type voltage-gated calcium channels because antagonists of these channels were reported to inhibit activation and translocation of NF- κ B (W. Shen et al., 2002).

1.2.4.b. Other transcription factors in ischemia

Activator protein-1 (AP-1) is a heterodimer comprised of activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2), c-fos or c-jun which bind to a specific DNA sequence that regulates the expression of several genes known as late response genes (Q. Wang et al., 2007). AP-1 can be activated by TNF and IL-1 β and following cerebral ischemia (V. L. Woodburn et al., 1993; M. Dragunow et al., 1994). HIF-1 is known to be upregulated after stroke leading to activation of iNOS and promoting neuronal cell death (C. ladecola et al., 1995). In addition, C/EBP β was shown to be upregulated following ischemia (V. L. Raghavendra Rao et al., 2002) and is known to control the expression of IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-8, IL-12, TNF and MCP-1 (M. N. Bradley et al., 2003).

Ischemia induces cerebral Egr1 expression (J. H. Yi et al., 2007), which regulates the expression of several inflammatory genes (S. F. Yan et al., 2000). PPAR γ is known to influence immune and inflammatory functions in macrophages, T cells, B

cells, dendritic cells and endothelial cells (P. Gosset et al., 2001; D. C. Jones et al., 2002; C. K. Glass and S. Ogawa, 2006). Agonists of PPARγ exhibit antiinflammatory properties after ischemia (P. R. Devchand et al., 1996; K. Setoguchi et al., 2001).

2.2.5. Role of cytokines in ischemia

Cytokines act as mediators for regulating the innate and adaptive immune systems (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008). They are pleiotropic (acting on different cell types), multifunctional (the same cytokine can regulate different functions) and redundant (different cytokines can carry out the same function because they use shared intracellular signaling pathways) (J. Huang et al., 2006). Some cytokines are proinflammatory (e.g., TNF, IL-1, interferon- γ IFN- γ , IL-12, IL-18 and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor GM-CSF), while others are anti-inflammatory (e.g., IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IFN- α and transforming growth factor- β TGF- β) (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008).

Cytokine release in the brain is increased in response to ischemia and other injuries. The inflammatory response often includes glial activation, which suppresses the injury process. However, an unchecked inflammatory response may increase the injury process (Q. Wang et al., 2007).

Stroke is followed by upregulation of several cytokines in the brain produced by immune cells and neurons and glia (T. Liu et al., 1994; T. Sairanen et al., 2001), some of these cytokines such as IL-1 β (A. S. Haqqani et al., 2005) and TNF (T. Liu et al., 1994) exacerbate the injury while others such as IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β may be neuroprotective (S. M. Allan and N. J. Rothwell, 2001).

1.2.5.a. Role of TNF in ischemia

Following ischemia, there is an increase in TNF as well as its two receptors p55 and p75 in the brain. p55 contains a death domain and mediates most of the effects of TNF including inflammatory response, cytotoxicity and AA release (C. X. Wang and A. Shuaib, 2002). p75 may mediate a protective effect after ischemia (Y. Shen et

al., 1997). Antagonizing TNF by a neutralizing antibody showed beneficial effects after ischemia (S. D. Lavine et al., 1998) and mice deficient in TNF had smaller infarcts (A. Martin-Villalba et al., 2001). In addition, infusion with TNF had increased infarct volumes following focal cerebral ischemia (F. C. Barone et al., 1997).

On the other hand, mice deficient in p55 and p75 had larger infarcts (A. J. Bruce et al., 1996) which would raise the possibility of the existence of another unidentified TNF receptor (N. J. Rothwell and G. N. Luheshi, 1996). Pretreatment of hippocampal cultures with TNF protected against OGD induced neuronal damage while its application after OGD increased the damage (G. J. Wilde et al., 2000). This finding resembles ischemic preconditioning where a short sub-lethal ischemic insults provide protection against subsequent severe ischemic injury (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008). The effect of TNF might be mediated by the production of ROS, activation of NF- κ B and up-regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD), which may provide defense against subsequent ROS generation. However, addition of TNF after injury would stimulate ROS generation and aggravate the damage (G. J. Wilde et al., 2000).

1.2.5.b. Role of interleukin-1 (IL-1) family in ischemia

IL-1 proteins include IL-1 α , IL-1 β (both of which interact with IL-1 receptor type I mediating all IL-1 signaling or IL-1 receptor type II which is believed to be a non-signaling or decoy receptor). The third member of the IL-1 family is the endogenous receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) that binds to and blocks IL-1 receptor type I and antagonizes the effects of IL-1 α and β (N. J. Rothwell, 1999). Interestingly, treatment with IL-1ra was protective against ischemia (H. C. Emsley et al., 2005), while its knockout animals suffered from larger infarcts (E. Pinteaux et al., 2006).

The brain expresses mainly IL-1 β which is up-regulated after stroke, it was shown that administration of IL-1 β increased brain damage in ischemic rats (Y. Yamasaki et al., 1995). More interestingly, individual knockouts in IL-1 α or IL-1 β had similar infarcts as wild-types after MCAO while double knockouts had smaller infarcts

indicating a compensatory response between IL-1 α and IL-1 β (H. Boutin et al., 2001).

1.2.5.c. Role of other cytokines in ischemia

Ischemia is followed by an up-regulation of IL-6 (X. Wang et al., 1994). IL-6 has an anti-inflammatory effect by inhibiting the synthesis of TNF and IL-1, by inducing the synthesis of TNF binding protein (which binds TNF and prevent it from interacting with its receptors) and also by inducing the synthesis of IL-1ra (B. E. Barton, 1997).

IL-10 has anti-inflammatory effects by blocking the production of IL-1 and TNF (Q. Wang et al., 2007) and is upregulated in experimental stroke (K. Strle et al., 2001). In addition, exogenous administration of IL-10 in ischemia had beneficial effects (P. A. Spera et al., 1998). TGF- β 1 contributes to the recovery of ischemic stroke and was shown to protect mouse brains from ischemic stroke (L. Pang et al., 2001).

Expression of chemokines such as MCP-1 and macrophage inflammatory protein-1α (Y. Chen et al., 2003) after ischemia has a deleterious role by increasing leukocyte infiltration (H. C. Emsley and P. J. Tyrrell, 2002).

2.2.6. Role of nitric oxide in ischemia

Nitric oxide (NO) is involved in many physiological processes such as neuronal communication, host defense and regulation of vascular tone. It can be produced by three different synthases: endothelial (eNOS), neuronal (nNOS) and inducible (iNOS). iNOS is expressed mainly by cells involved in inflammatory responses such as leukocytes, microglia and astrocytes (Q. Wang et al., 2007). iNOS expression and NO production were induced after ischemia (C. ladecola et al., 1995).

2.2.7. Role of arachidonic acid and its metabolites in ischemia

In the brain, energy is supplied by metabolism of glucose and oxygen for the phosphorylation of ADP to ATP, which is used to maintain the intracellular homeostasis and transmembrane ion gradients of sodium, potassium, and calcium. However, energy failure following stroke leads to rapid loss of ATP and uncontrolled leakage of ions across the cell membrane resulting in an increase in intracellular

Introduction

calcium and membrane depolarization and release of neurotransmitters such as glutamate and dopamine (R. M. Adibhatla and J. F. Hatcher, 2005). The released glutamate and the increase in intracellular calcium during cerebral ischemia activate phospholipases releasing free fatty acid (FFA) such as AA (H. Katsuki and S. Okuda, 1995). AA can stimulate the expression of TNF and IL-1ß (M. Hughes-Fulford et al., 2006). Both TNF and IL-1ß can activate phospholipases suggesting a self-re-enforcing cycle (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2008).

The brain content of lipids (36 - 60 %) is the second highest in the body next to adipocytes and comprises polyunsaturated fatty acids (mainly AA or docosahexaenoic acid DHA) (D. Tassoni et al., 2008). AA is released by cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2) from membrane phospholipids (A. A. Farooqui and L. A. Horrocks, 2006). DHA is liberated by the action of plasmalogen-selective phospholipase A2 (PIsEtn-PLA2) (Y. Hirashima et al., 1992). The liberated AA and DHA can be either reincorporated in neural membrane phospholipids by reacylation reactions or oxidized by several enzymatic and nonenzymatic mechanisms (S. I. Rapoport, 1999).

The enzymatic peroxidation of AA produces eicosanoids, which play important roles, in regulating signal transduction, gene transcription processes, and in inducing and maintaining the acute inflammatory responses (J. W. Phillis et al., 2006) (Figure 1.3). Eicosanoids include prostaglandins produced by cyclooxygenases (COX). thromboxanes and leukotrienes produced by lipoxygenases (LOX), and epoxyeicosatrienoic produced by epoxygenases (EPOX). Furthermore, COX and LOX metabolize DHA to docosanoids which antagonize the effects of eicosanoids and modulate leukocyte trafficking and downregulate the expression of cytokines (S. Hong et al., 2003). Docosanoids include resolvins, docosatrienes and neuroprotectins (J. W. Phillis et al., 2006). The reactions catalyzed by COX, LOX and EPOX also produce ROS.

Nonenzymatic peroxidation of AA and DHA produces 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) and 4-hydroxyhexenal (4-HHE), respectively, which are important mediators of neural cell damage (H. Esterbauer et al., 1991). In addition, free radical mediated

nonenzymatic oxidation of AA and DHA produces isoprostanes (L. J. Roberts, 2nd et al., 2005) and neuroprostanes (N. G. Bazan, 2005), respectively, which are both implicated in oxidative stress (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Release of arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid and their metabolism, after J. W. Phillis et al., 2006.

Agonist (A1 and A2); receptors (R1 and R2); plasma membrane (PM); phosphatidylcholine (PtdCho); ethanolamine plasmalogen (PlsEtn); lysophosphatidylcholine (LysoPtdCho); ethanolamine lysoplasmalogen (LysoPlsEtn); platelet-activating factor (PAF); calcium (Ca²⁺); cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2); plasmalogen-selective phospholipase A2 (PlsEtn-PLA2); cyclooxygenase-1 and 2 (COX-1 and 2); 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE); and reactive oxygen species (ROS).

1.2.7.a. Role of phospholipase A-2 (PLA-2) in ischemia

Phospholipase A-2 (PLA-2) isozymes include the calcium independent iPLA-2, the secretory sPLA-2 and the calcium-dependent cytosolic cPLA-2. cPLA-2 preferentially cleaves phospholipids containing AA while iPLA-2 and sPLA-2 have no specificity (R. M. Adibhatla et al., 2003; S. Akiba and T. Sato, 2004).

Calcium influx associated with ischemia/reperfusion stimulates PLA2 activity leading to an increase in the free AA (D. Tassoni et al., 2008). cPLA-2 was up-regulated after stroke (D. T. Stephenson et al., 1994), while cPLA-2 knockout mice had smaller infarcts (J. V. Bonventre et al., 1997).

cPLA-2 can be induced by several pro-inflammatory cytokines: *in vitro* exposure of astrocyte cultures to IL-1 β induced the expression of cPLA-2 (N. Stella et al., 1997), while exposure of an astrocytoma cell line to TNF increased the phosphorylation of cPLA-2 through activation of the MAP kinase pathway (M. Hernandez et al., 1999).

1.2.7.b. Role of cyclooxygenase (COX) in ischemia

Cyclooxygenases are correctly called prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase, because they catalyzes the conversion of AA into prostaglandin G_2 (PGG₂), and then to prostaglandin H_2 (PGH₂), which is the precursor of several other prostanoids, including prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂), prostacyclin (PGI₂), and thromboxanes (E. Candelario-Jalil and B. L. Fiebich, 2008).

COX exists in the isoforms COX-1 and COX-2. COX-3 is a splice variant of COX-1 (B. Kis et al., 2006). COX-1 and COX-2 share about 60 % amino acid identity but differ in their expression pattern (E. Candelario-Jalil and B. L. Fiebich, 2008). COX-1 is constitutively expressed in many cells (J. M. Schwab et al., 2002). It is thought to mediate physiological responses (T. Takemiya et al., 2007) and to have a protective role since mice deficient in COX-1 showed increased sensitivity to ischemia. This protective effect is probably caused by regulating cerebral blood flow (C. ladecola et al., 2001).

In contrast, COX-2 is an inducible isoform, which can be upregulated in response to acute seizures and ischemia (T. Takemiya et al., 2007) and in response to inflammatory cytokines, bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and tumor promoters (E. Candelario-Jalil and B. L. Fiebich, 2008). COX-2 mediates its toxic effect through PGE₂ (Y. Manabe et al., 2004) and the production of free radicals (E. Candelario-Jalil and B. L. Fiebich, 2008). COX-2 expression is upregulated after experimental ischemia (S. Nogawa et al., 1997) and this was associated with increased PGE₂

levels and neuronal apoptosis (R. C. Li et al., 2003). Indeed, COX-2 deficient mice suffered less brain injury following MCAO (C. ladecola et al., 2001) and treatment with COX-2 inhibitors decreased hippocampal neuronal damage after ischemia (T. Sasaki et al., 2004).

1.2.7.c. Role of prostaglandin E synthase (PGES) in ischemia

In the biosynthetic pathway leading to PGE₂ formation, phospholipase A2 (cytosolic or secretory) acts on membrane phospholipids releasing AA which is converted to PGH₂ by COX. PGH₂ is then isomerized to PGE₂ by prostaglandin E synthase (A. C. de Oliveira et al., 2008) (Figure 1.4). Prostaglandin E synthases may be microsomal PGESs (mPGES-1 and mPGES-2) or cytosolic (cPGES)(N. Tanikawa et al., 2002). Microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 (mPGES-1) is functionally coupled with COX-2 (M. Murakami et al., 2000).

Expression of mPGES-1 is of major importance in pathophysiological events in which COX-2-derived PGE₂ plays a crucial role because it has the most terminal position in the PGE₂-synthesing pathway, the highest magnitude of upregulation among other PGE₂-synthesizing enzymes and a long duration of mRNA expression (A. C. de Oliveira et al., 2008). mPGES-1 expression was increased in neurons, microglia and endothelial cells after ischemia (Y. Ikeda-Matsuo et al., 2006). Moreover, mPGES-1 deficient mice had smaller infarcts, less edema and less apoptosis following ischemia (Y. Ikeda-Matsuo et al., 2006).

1.2.7.d. Role of prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) in ischemia

PGE₂ is responsible for the neurotoxic effects of COX-2 (Y. Manabe et al., 2004). PGE₂ acts on four G-protein coupled receptors (EP1-4), EP2, EP3 and EP4 being neuroprotective (M. Bilak et al., 2004; L. McCullough et al., 2004; A. S. Ahmad et al., 2005). EP1 mediates the neurotoxic effect of PGE₂ (T. Kawano et al., 2006) (Figure 1.4). COX-2 inhibitors decreased hippocampal neuronal damage after ischemia by reducing PGE₂ concentration (M. Nakayama et al., 1998), indicating that PGE₂ produced by COX-2 may be a stimulator of neuronal damage. PGE₂ aggravated neuronal damage following ischemia (J. Thornhill and M. Smith, 1998) and the level of PGE₂ was increased after ischemia (E. Candelario-Jalil et al., 2003; C. Yokota et al., 2004).

Brain PGE₂ is synthesized and derived from neurons (P. Ciceri et al., 2002), microglia (N. P. Turrin and S. Rivest, 2004), astrocytes (M. Zonta et al., 2003) or endothelial cells (T. Takemiya et al., 2007). However, Takemiya et al., proposed that PGE₂ released from endothelial cells may promote calcium-dependent glutamate release from astrocytes leading to an increase in neuronal calcium level and neuronal death (T. Takemiya et al., 2007). Others consider PGE₂ released by activated microglia to be of major importance for the initiation, propagation and modulation of brain inflammation (B. Liu and J. S. Hong, 2003). In contrast, PGE₂ administration protected against neuronal death induced by LPS through reduction of NO release from microglia and ROS from neurons (E. J. Kim et al., 2002).



Figure 1.4. Activation of arachidonic acid cascade in ischemia

2.2.8. Role of High Mobility Group Box-1 in ischemia

HMGB1 is a 30 kD, abundant, non-histone nuclear protein which derives its name from its characteristic fast migration in electrophoresis (M. Bustin, 2001), HMGB1 is highly expressed in all eukaryotic cells and is conserved through evolution (99% identity in mammals) (S. Muller et al., 2004). Structurally, its 215 residues are organized into two DNA-binding domains (Box A and B) each containing about 80 amino acids in an L-shaped fold and a negatively charged C-terminus (H. M. Weir et al., 1993; I. E. Dumitriu et al., 2005) (Figure 1.5).

In its resting state, the long acidic tail of HMGB1 interacts with basic stretches in the box A and box B shielding them from other interactions that might occur before HMGB1 binds DNA (S. Knapp et al., 2004). Box B is responsible for many of the pro-inflammatory effects of HMGB1 including cytokine release (J. Li et al., 2003) while box A acts as a specific antagonist for the interaction between HMGB1 and RAGE (M. E. Bianchi and A. A. Manfredi, 2007).



Figure 1.5. Structure of HMGB1, after I. E. Dumitriu et al., 2005.

Most cells contain about a million molecules of HMGB1 which bind DNA without sequence specificity and induce bends in DNA enabling the physical interaction between DNA and various factors such as NF-κB and hormone receptors (M. E. Bianchi and A. Manfredi, 2004), thus regulating the transcription of many genes (J. S. Park et al., 2003). HMGB1 is an extremely mobile protein resting on a specific DNA site only for fractions of a second (R. D. Phair et al., 2004). In addition, some

cells express HMGB1 in the plasma membrane (in addition to the nucleus). HMGB1 is referred to as amphoterin which mediates neurite outgrowth (J. Parkkinen et al., 1993) and tumor cell metastasis (A. Taguchi et al., 2000).

HMGB1 can be released passively from necrotic cells (P. Scaffidi et al., 2002) or actively from immune cells (H. Yang et al., 2004) (Figure 1.6). Passively released HMGB1 from necrotic (but not from apoptotic) cells serves as a danger signal that alerts the immune system to the presence of injury (K. L. Rock et al., 2005). Passive release of HMGB1 may depend on the activation of poly(ADP)-ribose polymerase enzyme (PARP) after DNA damage which promotes the translocation of HMGB1 from the nucleus to the cytosol (D. Ditsworth et al., 2007).

HMGB1 can be also actively secreted from monocytes or macrophages in response to LPS, TNF, IL-1 β and interferon- γ (H. Wang et al., 1999) as a delayed mediator of inflammation (H. Wang et al., 1999). In living cells HMGB1 traffics between the nucleus and cytosol (T. Bonaldi et al., 2003). However, upon stimulation, lysine residues in HMGB1 are acetylated and this blocks its import into the nucleus. Acetylated HMGB1 is then packaged into secretory lysosomes before being released extracellularly (S. Gardella et al., 2002). Extracellular HMGB1 activates monocytes to release more cytokines thus prolonging inflammation (U. Andersson et al., 2000).

Thus, HMGB1 is now considered a cytokine because it is secreted by activated immune cells, mediates systemic inflammatory responses and activates prototypical inflammatory responses in immune cells and endothelial cells (M. T. Lotze and K. J. Tracey, 2005). In addition, HMGB1 was reported to be involved in ischemic injury in several animal models (R. S. Goldstein et al., 2006; J. B. Kim et al., 2008; J. Qiu et al., 2008) and in humans (R. S. Goldstein et al., 2006).

Introduction



Figure 1.6. Release of HMGB1, after M. T. Lotze and K. J. Tracey, 2005.

HMGB1 may signal through TLR-2, TLR-4 and RAGE. However signaling through RAGE and the TLRs is fast, while HMGB1 induces a delayed response in macrophages which suggest the involvement of another yet to be discovered receptor (M. T. Lotze and K. J. Tracey, 2005).

1.2.8.a. Role of Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts in ischemia

RAGE, the first receptor identified for HMGB1 (M. T. Lotze and K. J. Tracey, 2005), is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily of cell surface receptors (A. Bierhaus et al., 2005) that is activated by several ligands including HMGB1 but also by advanced glycation end products (AGEs), S100 proteins, and amyloid β -peptide

(Aβ) (M. P. Fink, 2007). RAGE is expressed by monocytes and macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells (A. M. Schmidt et al., 2001). In the brain, RAGE is present on neurons, glia and endothelial cells (S. D. Yan et al., 1996; R. Deane et al., 2003; O. Arancio et al., 2004; A. Bierhaus et al., 2004). RAGE can be expressed as both a transmembrane receptor and as a soluble molecule (sRAGE) which can block the action of RAGE ligands such as HMGB1 (M. T. Lotze and K. J. Tracey, 2005). RAGE expression was reported to be induced after ischemia and a specific antibody against RAGE reduced the damage caused by OGD (P. Pichiule et al., 2007; D. X. Zhai et al., 2008).

Aim of the study

Ischemia is known to induce the upregulation of several cytokines, transcription factors and AA. AA and its metabolites play an important role in inflammatory processes especially in the brain. Furthermore, the transcription factor NF- κ B is essential for the regulation of the transcription of several genes involved in inflammation. In addition, HMGB1, the late mediator of inflammation was reported to have a role in ischemia.

Our present study aims to investigate whether NF- κ B regulates the transcription of genes involved in AA metabolism and whether inhibiting NF- κ B and AA metabolism could provide a new approach for the treatment of ischemia. We would also explore the role of HMGB1 in mediating the toxic effects observed after ischemia and also study a potential beneficial effect of blocking HMGB1 mediated effects as a therapy of ischemia.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Cell culture

Materials:

Hank's balanced salt solution DNase I Bovine serum albumin (BSA Dubellco's modified eagles I Fetal bovine serum (FBS) L-glutamine Penicillin/Streptomycin Trypsin-EDTA Phosphate balanced saline Glucose Hepes Neurobasal medium B27 supplement Poly-D-lysine Diphtheria toxin Clodronate containing liposo	PAA Roche Roth PAA PAA Gibco Gibco Gibco Gibco Gibco Merck Roth Invitrogen/Gibco Invitrogen/Gibco Sigma Sigma			
Sieve (40 µm)	BD Falcon			
ACK buffer (ERYLYSE for lysis of erythrocytes and blood cells)				
NH ₄ Cl KHCO ₃ Na ₂ EDTA Add 200 ml dH ₂ O sterile filtered	2.07g 250 mg 9.3 mg	J.T. Baker Ferak berlin Serva		
NS-398 SC-51089 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) TNF HMGB1		Sigma Biomol Sigma Sigma HMGbiotech		

2.1.1. Preparation of glial cultures (Astrocytes/Microglia)

Glia were prepared from NMRI, RAGEko or CD11b-DTR mice at postnatal day P2 or P3 as follows:

Ten to twelve animals were sacrificed by CO₂ inhalation and heads were collected in cold HBSS. Then the brains were extracted under sterile conditions, cut into small pieces with a scalpel and treated with 25 ml warm HBSS containing 0.3 % BSA, 0.004 % DNase and 0.025 % trypsin (sterile filtered) for 15 min at 37 °C with occasional shaking. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 25 ml DMEM full medium (containing 10 % FBS, 0.5 mM L-glutamine and 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin). Cells were centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 7 minutes. The cell pellet was resuspended in 15 ml warm HBSS containing 0.3 % BSA, 0.004 % DNase (sterile filtered) and incubated at room temperature for 10 min. After tissue fragments settled down, the supernatant was carefully transferred to another tube and kept at 37 °C while the pellet was resuspended again in the same solution and incubated for another 10 min. The clear supernatant was combined with that from the previous step. This procedure was repeated to get a total of three resuspension steps. The combined supernatant was then centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 7 minutes and the pelleted cells were resuspended in 10 ml warm growth medium. Using a fire-polished Pasteur pipette, cell clusters were separated into a single cellsuspension and the volume adjusted to 15 ml per 2 brains. Cells were plated into a 75 cm² flask and incubated at 37 °C under 5 % CO₂. The cell culture medium was changed every 5 days and cells were splitted at 90 % confluency.

For CD11b-DTR mice the cells were prepared from each mouse individually and cultured in 25 cm² flasks. Meanwhile, a part of the tail was collected for genotyping.

For splitting of cells, medium was removed and the cells were washed once with warm PBS. Trypsin-EDTA (2 ml per 75 cm² flask or 1 ml per 25 cm² flask) was added and the flask was incubated at 37 °C for 5-10 min until cells detached. Then the reaction was stopped by adding 8 ml full medium (containing FBS) and the cells were collected in a tube, centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 7 minutes and the cell pellet
was then resuspended in 12 ml full growth medium. Cells were plated (500 μ l in each well in a 24-well plate or 2 ml in each well of 6-well plate). Neurons were plated on glia 7 days after splitting.

2.1.2. Depletion of microglia from mixed glial cultures

Mixed glial cultures prepared from CD11b-DTR mice were genotyped and the DTRpositive cells were treated at day *in vitro* (DIV) 5-6 with diphtheria toxin 100 ng/ml or PBS for 24 h in DMEM (without FBS). After 9-10 days, neurons were plated on glial cells and the cultures were stained for Iba-1 to detect the depletion of microglia.

In another set of experiments, mixed glial cultures were prepared from NMRI mice and were treated at DIV 5-6 with clodronate or PBS containing liposomes (which were kindly provided from Dr. N. Van Rooijen, Department of Molecular cell Biology, Vumc, FdG, Amesterdam, The Netherlands) for 24 hours in full DMEM medium (0.2 ml liposome solution in 3 ml DMEM medium). After 9-10 days, neurons were plated on glial cells and the cultures were stained for Iba-1 to detect the depletion of microglia.

2.1.3. Cortical Neuron Preparation

Primary cortical neurons were prepared from embryonic NMRI mice at embryonic day 16 (E16) as follows:

The pregnant mouse was sacrificed by CO_2 inhalation and the embryos were collected into ice cold dissection buffer (0.74 % Hepes and 0.6 % Glucose in PBS, pH 7.3, sterile filtered).

Under sterile conditions, the cerebral cortices were dissected under an operational microscope while meninges, hippocampus and olfactory bulb were removed and discarded. Under the cell culture hood, the cerebral cortices were washed two times with pre-warmed PBS, minced with a scalpel and treated with 2 ml of pre-warmed trypsin-EDTA. After incubation at 37°C for 7 min with occasional shaking, trypsin was discarded and the cell clump washed two times with pre-warmed PBS. Cells were resuspended in Neurobasal medium (2.5 ml supplemented with 2% B27,

0.5 mM L-glutamine, 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin). Then cell clusters were separated into single cell suspension by triturating through a fire-polished Pasteur pipette.

Cells were counted using a hematocytometer and plated (200,000 cells in each well of a 24-well plate or 2,000,000 cells in each well of a 6-well plate coated with poly-D-lysine for pure cortical neurons or on a confluent glial cell layer for mixed neural cultures). Cultures were incubated at 37 °C under 5 % CO₂. To change medium, only half of medium was removed from each well and fresh pre-warmed medium was added.

For pure cortical neuronal cultures (neurons plated on poly-D-lysine coated plates), media was changed the first day after preparation (with full neurobasal medium containing 5 % FBS) and then every third day until cells were used for experiments at DIV 10 (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Immunohistochemistry (IHC) of NeuN in primary cortical neurons.

For mixed neural cultures (neurons plated on glial cell layer), media (full DMEM containing 25 % full neurobasal medium) was changed every 4 days and the cultures were used 6 days after plating neurons.

Coating plates with poly-D-lysine

Five hundred μ /well (in 24-well plate) or 2 ml/well (in 6-well plate) of poly-D-lysine solution (50 μ g/ml in d H₂O) were added and the plates were incubated at 37 °C overnight then the solution was sucked off and the plates washed once with PBS and allowed to dry under the hood before neurons were plated.

2.1.4. Isolation of peritoneal macrophages

Peritoneal macrophages were prepared as described previously (L. Dory, 1989). Briefly, mice were killed by CO_2 inhalation. Then, peritoneal lavage using 10 ml ice cold PBS was performed 5 times. The collected solution was filtered through a 40 µm sieve and centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C. The cell pellet was resuspended in 2 ml ACK (RBCs lysis) buffer and incubated at room temperature for 5 min before 10 ml PBS were added to stop the reaction. Then the cell suspension was centrifuged again at 1,000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C before the supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in full DMEM medium containing 25 % neurobasal full medium. 400,000 cells were plated in each well of confluent mixed neural cultures in a 24-well plate (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 IHC of CD11b in peritoneal macrophages.

2.2. Oxygen Glucose Deprivation (OGD)

Materials:

2-Deoxy-D-Glucose

Sigma

OGD was used as an *in vitro* model of ischemia. Culture medium was replaced with stimulation medium (full neurobasal medium without B27 supplement) with (OGD plate) or without (control plate) 2-deoxy-D-glucose (5 mM). The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 45 min under normal conditions. Then the OGD plate was transferred to an anaerobic chamber, which was flushed with 5 % CO₂ and 95 % N₂ for 15 minutes before the anaerobic chamber was tightly sealed and placed in a normal incubator adjusted to 37 °C, while the control plate was kept under normal conditions (37 °C, 5 % CO₂). After the specified duration of OGD (4.5 h), medium was removed from both the control and the OGD plates and replaced with fresh stimulation medium. Both plates were incubated at 37 °C under normal conditions for 24 h before media were collected and RNA was extracted from the cells.

2.3. Quantification of cell death

Cell death can be classified into 2 main forms. Necrosis is accompanied by increased ion permeability of the plasma membrane associated with swelling and plasma membrane rupture. And apoptosis is characterized by condensation of nuclei and activation of endogenous nucleases which lead to DNA cleavage.

2.3.1. Quantification of cell death and lysis by measurement of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity

The leakage of LDH through the damaged cell membrane is an indicator of plasma membrane damage and cell death. We quantified the released LDH and this was expressed relative to the control conditions.

Materials:

Cytotoxicity Detection Kit (LDH)

Roche

The kit reaction mix for 100 samples consisted of: 250 μ l catalyst solution + 11.25 ml Dye solution (freshly mixed).

The cell culture medium was collected in Eppendorf tubes, spinned at 8,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C to remove cells. Then, 100 μ l medium were transferred into 96 well plate and mixed with 100 μ l LDH kit reaction mix and incubated for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. The absorbance was then measured at 492 nm and reference 620 nm.

2.3.2. Detection of cytoplasmic histone-associated-DNA-fragments (monoand oligonucleosomes)

When a sample containing DNA-histone complexes (nucleosomes) is incubated with anti-histone (biotin-labeled) antibody and anti-DNA (peroxidase-conjugated) antibody in a streptavidin-coated microplate, the anti-histone biotin-labeled antibody binds the histone component of the nucleosomes and captures it to the streptavidin coat of the plate. Simultaneously, the peroxidase-conjugated anti-DNA reacts with the DNA component of the nucleosome and develops color using ABTS as a substrate (sandwich ELISA).

Materials:

Cell death detection ELISA ^{plus}

Roche

The kit is composed of the following

- Anti-Histone-Biotin (biotin-labelled monoclonal mouse antibody)
- Anti-DNA-POD (peroxidase conjugated monoclonal mouse antibody)
- Positive control (DNA-Histone-Complex)
- Incubation buffer
- Lysis buffer
- Substrate buffer

- ABTS substrate tablet (2,2-azino-di-3ethylbenzthiazoline-sulfonic acid)

- ABTS stop solution
- Streptavidin-coated microplate

At the end of the stimulation period, the cell culture medium was collected and used for LDH measurement. The cells were washed once with PBS and lysis buffer (200 μ l) was added to each well and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Then cell lysates were collected into tubes and centrifuged at 200 x g for 10 min. Twenty μ l of positive control, negative control, background control (incubation buffer) or clear supernatant were carefully transferred to the middle of the appropriate wells of the streptavidin-coated microplate. Freshly prepared immunoreagant (80 μ l of 1 volume Anti-Histone-Biotin + 1 volume Anti-DNA-POD + 18 volume Incubation buffer) was added to each well and the plate was covered with adhesive cover foil and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours on a shaker (300 rpm/min).

After the incubation period, the solution was removed and the plate was washed 3-times each with 300 μ l incubation buffer. Then ABTS solution (100 μ l of 1 ABTS tablet dissolved in 5 ml substrate buffer) was added to each well and incubated on a shaker (250 rpm) for 10 – 20 min. Then ABTS stop solution (100 μ l) was pipetted into each well. The signal was read at 405 nm and reference 490 nm and ABTS stop solution was used as a blank.

2.4. Quantification of Prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) release.

Materials:

Prostaglandin E₂ EIA kit-monoclonal

Cayman

The kit is composed of the following

- Prostaglandin E₂ Monoclonal antibody

- Prostaglandin E2 AchE Tracer
- Prostaglandin E₂ EIA Standard
- EIA Buffer
- Wash Buffer
- Goat Anti-Mouse IgG Coated plate

- Ellman's Reagant

The cell culture medium was collected in Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C to remove cells. Then medium or standard (50 µl) was transferred into the appropriate wells and PGE₂ AChE tracer and PGE₂ monoclonal antibody (50 µl each) were added. After 18 h incubation at 4 °C, the plate was washed and Ellman's reagent (200 µl) was added to each well and absorbance was measured at 420 nm after 60 min.

2.5. RNA extraction and reverse transcription

Materials:

RNApure		Peqlab
Chloroform		Sigma
Isopropanol		J.T.Bake
70 % Ethanol		J.T.Bake
5 x Buffer	10 µl	Promega
dNTPs (25 mM)	2 µl	Promega
Random Primer	1 µl	Promega
RNAsin	1 µl	Promega
Reverse Transcriptas	se 1 µl	Promega

2.5.1. RNA extraction from cultured cells

Cell culture medium was removed and the cells were washed once with cold PBS. Then RNApure reagent was added (1 ml/well in 6-well plate) and cells were triturated several times. Cells were allowed to stand on ice for 7 min before the cell lysate was transferred to Eppendorf tubes containing 0.2 ml chloroform. Lysates were mixed for 15 seconds and again allowed to stand for 7 min on ice. Samples were then centrifuged at 13,000 x g for 20 min at 4 ° C. The upper aqueous layer containing RNA was carefully transferred to another tube containing 0.5 ml isopropanol and incubated overnight at – 20 °C to allow for the precipitation of RNA. Samples were then centrifuged at 13,000 x g for 20 min at 4 ° C and the RNA pellet was washed two times with 1 ml 75 % ethanol in water. The pellet was allowed to dry partially at room temperature and then dissolved in dH₂O. The RNA

concentration was measured using a spectrophotometer. RNA was stored at -80 °C.

2.5.2. RNA extraction from brain tissue

Fifty mg homogenized tissue from the ischemic core or the surrounding periphery were used for the extraction of RNA using the same protocol as described with cultured cells.

2.5.3. Reverse Transcription

Three μ g RNA from each sample were diluted to a final volume of 35 μ l with dH₂O. Then RNA was mixed with the above-mentioned volumes of 5X buffer, dNTPs, random primer, RNasin and reverse transcriptase and incubated at room temperature for 10 min and at 37 °C for 90 min. The obtained cDNA was stored at -20 °C.

2.6. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), Reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) and Real-Time RT-PCR

2.6.1. Real time RT-PCR

The expression of the target gene(s) was quantified relative to the expression of a house keeping gene (cyclophillin) under the different experimental conditions using real-time RT-PCR

Materials:

Real-Time RT-PCR Cycle	r: Gene	Applied Biosystems
Amp 5700 Sequence Detect	or, PE	
SYBR Green Kit		PE Applied Biosystems
The reaction mix was comp	osed of	
Master mix (SYBRGreen)	15 µl	
Primer 1 (5 µM)	1.8 µl	
Primer 2 (5 µM)	1.8 µl	
dH ₂ O	6.4 µl	
PCR plates		ABgene
Primers were synthesized by	y	TIB-MOLBIOL

Materials and Methods

Primer	Primer sequence	Amplicon length
Cyclophilin-F	5' AGG TCC TGG CAT CTT GTC CAT 3'	51 bp
Cyclophilin-R	5' GAA CCG TTT GTG TTT GGT CCA 3'	
cPLA-2-F	5' TTG GCG ATA TGC TGG ACA CTC 3'	84 bp
cPLA-2-R	5' AGT GTC TCG TTC GCT TCC TGCT 3'	
COX-2-F	5' CAG ACA ACA TAA ACT GCG CCT T	71 bp
COX-2-R	5' GAT ACA CCT CTC CAC CAA TGA CC	
mPGES-1-F	5' AAG ATG TAC GCG GTG GCT GTC A	55 bp
mPGES-1-R	5' AAG CCT TCT TCC GCA GCC TCA T	
	3,	

cDNA samples were diluted 1:16 for cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 or 1:1024 for cyclophillin and 5 μ l were mixed with the above-mentioned volumes of the master mix, primers and dH₂O in a real-time RT-PCR plate. The real-time RT-PCR was performed according to the following protocol:

10 minutes at 95 °C 15 seconds at 95 °C 1 minute at 60 °C

Repeated for 40 cycles

A linear dilution-amplification curve was obtained from diluted pooled samples (1:2 till 1:64) for cPLA-2, COX-2, mPGES-1 or (1:128 till 1: 4096) for cyclophillin. Using this curve the expression of each gene was quantified relative to the expression of the house keeping gene under different experimental conditions.

The purity of the amplified products was checked by the dissociation curve and by gel electrophoresis.

2.6.2. RT-PCR

Materials:

Taq polymeraseTaqaradNTPsPromegaTBE buffer (Tris/Borate/EDTA)Tris-borateTris-borate89 mMEDTA2 mM

Aga Prim	rose lers were synthesized by	Biozyme TIB-MOLBIOL	
Primer	Primer sequence		Amplicon length
TLR-2-F	5' AGG CTC GGT TCT CA	AC TGA TGA A 3'	623 bp
TLR-2-R	5' CTA ACA TCC AAC AC	C TCC AGC G 3'	
TLR-4-F	5' GAC ACC AGG AAG C	TT GAA TCC 3'	603 bp
TLR-4-R	5' GGC TTG GTC TTG AA	T GAA GTC A 3'	
RAGE-F	5' GAT TCC CGA TGG CA	A AGA AAC AC 3'	512 bp
RAGE-R	5' ACT CAC CCA CAG AG	GC CTT CAG 3'	
GAPDH-F	5' ATC CTG CAC CAC CA	A CTG CTT A 3'	711 bp
GAPDH-R	5' TTC AAG AGA GTA GG	G AGG GCT 3'	

To investigate the presence of HMGB1 receptors (TLR-2, -4 and RAGE) in our cell culture model, we performed RT-PCRs using cDNA obtained from spleen, whole brain, cultured neurons or cultured microglia. For comparison, levels of the house keeping gene GAPDH were determined using the following PCR reaction:

Taq polymerase	0.25 µl
dNTPs	4 µl
10 x buffer	5 µl
Primer F (10 µM)	5 µl
Primer R (10 µM)	5 µl
cDNA	7 µl
water to	50 µl

and the PCR protocol consisted of the following steps:

Initial denaturation	94 °C	1 min
Denaturation Annealing Extension	94 °C * °C 72 °C	15 sec 30 sec 1 minute
Final extension	72 °C	Repeated 40 x 7 minute
Hold	4 °C	

* The annealing temperature was adjusted for each PCR product according to the primers used:

 TLR-2
 56 °C

 TLR-4
 53 °C

 RAGE
 52 °C

 GAPDH 61 °C

2.6.3. Genotyping of CD11b-DTR mice

Materials:

Non Ionic detergent (NID) buffer:

50 mM HCl 10 mM Tris/Cl pH 8.3 2 mM MgCl₂ 0.1 mg/ml gelatin 0.45 % NP40 0.45 % Tween 20 Proteinase K Taq polymerase Primers were synthesized by

J.T Baker Roth Fluka Gruessing

Roth Merck Taqara TIB-MOLBIOL

Primer Primer sequence

Amplicon length

WT-F	5' CTA GGC CAC AGA ATT GAA AGA TCT 3'	324 bp
WT-R	5' GTA GGT GGA AAT TCT AGA ATC ATC C 3'	
TG-F	5' GAG GGC GAT GCC ACC TAC GGC AAG 3'	500 bp
TG-R	5' CTA AGG GCG GAC TGG GTG CTC AGG 3'	

At the age of P2, heterozygous CD11b-DTR mice were killed by CO_2 inhalation. A part of the tail from each mouse was incubated in 200 µl NID buffer and 2 µl proteinase K (10 mg/ml) at 56 °C for 6 hours with mild shaking. Then proteinase K was inactivated by heating at 95 °C for 10 min. The obtained genomic DNA was used to perform PCR reaction for the transgene (TG) and the wild-type (WT) allele as an internal standard using the following procedure:

WT

The PCR reaction contained

MgCl ₂	1.5 µl
dNTPs (5 mM)	0.4 µl
10x buffer	5 µl
WT-F (10 µM)	3 µl
WT-R (10 µM)	3 µl
DNA	1.3 µl
Taq polymerase	0.2 µl
dH ₂ O	35.6 µl

and the PCR protocol consisted of the following steps:

Initial denatur	ration	94 °C	4 min	
Denaturation		94 °C	30 sec	
Annealing		60 °C	30 sec	
Extension		72 °C	30 sec	
				Repeated 32 x
	Final e	extension	72 °C	5 minute
Hold		4 °C		

ΤG

The PCR reaction contained

2 µl
0.4 µl
5 µl
3 µl
3 µl
1 µl
0.2 µl
35.4 µl

and the PCR protocol consisted of the following steps:

Initial denaturation	94 °C	4 min	
Denaturation	94 °C	45 se	C
Annealing	64 °C	45 sec	2
Extension	72 °C	30 se	с
			Repeated 32 x
Final extensi	ion	72 °C	5 minute
Hold	4 °C		

The PCR products were ran on an agarose gel (1% in 0.5 x TBE) next to a marker (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Genotyping of CD11b-DTR mice.

2.7. Immunohistochemistry

Materials:

Para–formaldehyde (PFA) Triton 100-X Tween 20	Sigma Merck Roth
Normal goat serum (NGS) Normal horse serum (NHS)	Vector Laboratories Vector Laboratories
Mouse anti-NeuN antibody Mouse anti-GFAP Rabbit anti-IBA-1 antibody Rabbit polyclonal anti-HMGB1 antibody	Chemicon international Santa cruz Wako
Rat anti-CD11b Goat anti-RAGE antibody	Serotec Biologo
Rhodamine (TRITC) goat anti-mouse antibody Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-	Jackson Laboratories Invitrogen
mouse antibody Fluorescein-conjugated anti-rabbit antibody Cy3-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-rat antibody	Vector Laboratories Jackson Invitrogen
Cy3-conjugated donkey anti-goat antibody DAPI (4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole dihyd- rochloride)	Jackson Sigma
Mowiol	Calbiochem

2.7.1. Anti-Neuronal Nuclei (NeuN) Staining

After removal of cell culture medium, the cells were fixed with 4 % PFA for 30 minutes, washed with PBS before they were permeabilised for 5 min in Triton 0.25 % and Tween 0.1 % for another 5 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 5 % normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Then, cells were incubated with the primary mouse anti-NeuN antibody (1:50 in 5% NGS) for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for 30 min with the secondary antibody (Rhodamine [TRITC] goat anti-mouse antibody, 1:100) at room temperature and protected from light. Finally the cells were treated with DAPI in water (1:10,000) for 5 min, washed with water and mounted with Mowiol DAPCO.

2.7.2. Anti-Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) Staining

After removal of cell culture medium, the cells were fixed with 4 % PFA for 30 minutes, washed with PBS before they were permeabilised for 5 min in Triton 0.25 % and Tween 0.1 % for another 5 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 5 % normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Then, cells were incubated with the primary mouse anti-GFAP antibody (1:50 in NGS) for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for 30 min with the secondary antibody (alexa fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-mouse, 1:100) the secondary antibody (Rhodamine [TRITC] goat anti-mouse antibody, 1:100) at room temperature and protected from light. Finally the cells were treated with DAPI in water (1:10,000) for 5 min, washed with water and mounted with Mowiol DAPCO.

2.7.3. Anti- Ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba-1) Staining

After removal of cell culture medium, the cells were fixed with 4 % PFA for 30 minutes, washed with PBS before they were permeabilised for 5 min in Triton 0.25 % and Tween 0.1 % for another 5 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 5 % normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Then, cells were incubated with the primary rabbit anti-IBA-1 antibody

(1:1000 in NGS) for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for 30 min with the secondary antibody (flourescein-conjugated anti-rabbit antibody, 1:100) at room temperature and protected from light. Finally the cells were treated with DAPI in water (1:10,000) for 5 min, washed with water and mounted with Mowiol DAPCO.

2.7.4. Anti-High Mobility Group Box-1 protein (HMGB1) Staining

After removal of cell culture medium, the cells were fixed with 4 % PFA for 30 minutes, washed with PBS before they were permeabilised for 5 min in Triton 0.25 % and Tween 0.1 % for another 5 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 5 % normal horse serum (NHS) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Then, cells were incubated with the primary rabbit polyclonal anti-HMGB-1 antibody (which was kindly provided by Dr K. J: Tracey, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, Manhasset, USA), the anti-HMGB1 antibody was applied in a dilution of 1:200 in NHS for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for 30 min with the secondary antibody (Cy3-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody, 1:100) at room temperature and protected from light. Finally the cells were treated with DAPI in water (1:10,000) for 5 min, washed with water and mounted with Mowiol DAPCO.

2.7.5. Anti- Cluster of Differentiation molecule 11b (CD11b) Staining

After removal of cell culture medium, the cells were fixed with 4 % PFA for 30 minutes, washed with PBS before they were permeabilised for 5 min in Triton 0.25 % and Tween 0.1 % for another 5 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 5 % normal horse serum (NHS) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Then, cells were incubated with the primary rat anti-CD11b antibody (1:200 in NHS) for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for 30 min with the secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated donkey anti-rat antibody, 1:100) at room temperature and protected from light. Finally the cells were treated with DAPI in water (1:10,000) for 5 min, washed with water and mounted with Mowiol DAPCO.

2.7.6. Anti-Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts (RAGE) Staining

After removal of cell culture medium, the cells were fixed with 4 % PFA for 30 minutes, washed with PBS before they were permeabilised for 5 min in Triton 0.25 % and Tween 0.1 % for another 5 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS and blocked with 5 % normal horse serum (NHS) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Then, cells were incubated with the primary goat anti-RAGE antibody (1:200 in NHS) for 1 hour at room temperature. The cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for 30 min with secondary antibody (Cy3-conjugated donkey anti-goat antibody, 1:100) at room temperature and protected from light. Finally the cells were treated with DAPI in water (1:10,000) for 5 min, washed with water and mounted with Mowiol DAPCO.

2.8. Cloning

Materials:

Phusion Polymerase	Finnzymes
dNTPs	Finnzymes
Primers were synthesized by	TIB MOLBIOL

Primer	Extra bases	Res. Enz. Rec. Seq.	Main sequence	Amplicon length
cPLA2-1750-F	5'ATTCA	GGATCC	TTCAAACCCTGCAGTGCCT	1830 bp
cPLA2-900-F	5'ATTCA	GGATCC	AGGCATTCTAACCAGGGTAC	980 bp
cPLA2-R	5'TCGTA	CTCGAG	TGAGAATCCTCAGGCTTCTC	
COX2-1750-F	5'ATTCA	GGATCC	GAGGATGGAGTTGGTCAAAGTC	1830 bp
COX2-900-F	5'ATTCA	GGATCC	GGTTAGGGAGAATAAGGCTAGT	980 bp
COX2-R	5'TCGTA	CTCGAG	AGTAGTGGTGGCGGTGGAGC	

TAE buffer (Tris/Acetate/EDTA) Tris-acetate (40 mM) EDTA (1 mM)

QIAquick PCR purification kit supplied with the following solutions: Buffer PBI Buffer PE Buffer EB	Qiagen
BamHI Xhol Buffer B (10x) BSA	Promega Promega Promega BioLabs
QIAquick gel extraction supplied with the following solutions: Buffer QG Buffer PE Buffer EB	Qiagen
Ligation Buffer T4 DNA Ligase	Roche Roche
Gene Ruler 1 κΒ DNA ladder CaCl₂ (0.1 M)	Fermentas Merck
LB Medium (Lysogeny broth) * 1 % Peptone from Casein 0.5 % Yeast extract 0.5 % NaCl	Fluka Roth Prolabo
HB101 competent cells	Promega
SOC medium (Super Optimal broth, SOB, with Catabolite repression) * 2 % Peptone from casein 0.5 % Yeast extract 20 mM NaCl 2.5 mM KCl 10 mM MgCl ₂ 10 mM MgSO ₄ 20 mM Glucose	Fluka Roth Prolabo Merck Merck J.T.Baker Merck
Agar	GibcoBRL
Ampicillin	Roth

Agar plates 1.5 % agar in LB + 50 μg/ml ampicillin	
Taq Polymerase	Taqara
PureYield Plasmid Midiprep System supplied with the following reagents	Promega
- Cell Resuspension solution (CRA) 50 mM Tris-HCL, pH 7.5 10 mM EDTA, pH 8.0 100 μg/ml RNase A	
- Cell Lysis Solution (CLA) 0.2 M NaOH 1 % SDS	
 Neutralisation solution (NSB) 4.09 M Guanidine HCI (pH 4.8) 759 mM Potassium Acetate 2.12 M glacial acetic acid 	
 Endotoxin Removal wash 162.8 mM potassium acetate 22.6 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.5) 0.109 mM EDTA (pH 8.0) supplemented with 95 % ethanol before use 	
- Column Wash	
Plasmid purification maxi kit supplied with the following reagents	Qiagen
- Resuspension Buffer (P1) 50 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0 10 mM EDTA 100 μg/ml RNase A	

 Lysis Buffer (P2) 200 mM NaOH 1 % SDS Neutralisation Buffer 3 M Potassium Acetate, pH 5.5 Equilibration buffer (QBT) 750 mM NaCl 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.0 15 % isopropanol (v/v) .15 % Triton X-100 (v/v) Washing Buffer (QC) 1 M NaCl 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.0 15 % isopropanol (v/v) Elution Buffer (QF) 1.25 M NaCl 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5 15 % isopropanol (v/v) 	
BD+ (BigDye® Terminator v1.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit)	Applied Biosystems
5' CCATTT TACCAA CAGTAC CG	GE Health Care
oophadox	Biosciences
Hi-Di™ Formamide	Applied Biosystems

 $^*\,$ LB and SOC were sterilized by autoclaving and ampicillin was added to LB after the solution had reached a temperature of about 50 – 55 °C.

The promoter region (-2000 base downstream and +200 b upstream of the transcription start site TSS) for cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 were analysed to find the probable transcription factor binding sequences in that region using an online software (http://www.gene-regulation.com/).

Interestingly, we found several sites where NF- κ B can bind in the promoter regions for these genes and we decided to prepare two constructs for each gene, a long

one starting at -1750 to +80 relative to the TSS and a short construct starting at -900 to +80 relative to the TSS (of cPLA-2 and COX-2) and cloned them into the promoterless vector pXP2. PCR primers producing these fragments were designed in a way that the 5' end of each primer contained - in addition to the required DNA sequence – a recognition sequence for the restriction enzymes BamHI (GGATCC in case of the forward primer) and XhoI (GAGCT in case of the reverse primer) preceded by 5 non-specific bases to ensure that the restriction enzyme will be able to cut at that site.

For mPGES-1, constructs containing the sequences –1814 to +33 and –930 to +33 in the promoterless vector pGL3-basic were kindly provided by Dr. Hiroaki Naraba (Iwate Medical University, Japan) and were described previously in details (H. Naraba et al., 2002).

2.8.1. Cloning PCR

The PCR reaction consisted of

buffer (5x)	10 µl
dNTPs (5mM)	2 µl
primer F (10 µM)	1 µl
primer R (10 µM)	1 µl
Phusion Polymera	ase 0.5 µl
genomic DNA	2 µl
dH ₂ O	33.50 µl

The following PCR protocol was used

Initial denaturation	98 °C	30 seconds
Denaturation Annealing	98 °C 60 °C	10 seconds 30 seconds for 1 κΒ 1 minute for 2 κΒ
Extension	72 °C	1 minute Repeated 30 x
Final extension	72 °C	7 minute
Hold	4°C	

Then, the PCR products were ran on an agarose gel (1% in 0.5 x TAE) (Figure 2.4) and purified using the PCR product purification kit (Qiagen).

2.8.2. PCR product purification

The PCR product (100 μ l) was mixed with 500 μ l buffer PBI and applied to the spin column assembled in a collection tube. Centrifugation at 10,000 x g for 1 min at room temperature allowed DNA to bind to the column. Then, the flow-through was discarded and the column was washed with 750 μ l buffer PE. After centrifugation for 1 min the flow-through was discarded and the column centrifuged again for 1 min.

The column was removed to a new 1.5 ml tube, buffer EB (50 μ l) was added to the center of the membrane and the column was centrifuged for 1 min to elute DNA.



Figure 2.4 cPLA-2 and COX-2 constructs

2.8.3. Cleavage with restriction enzymes

Both the DNA insert and vector were cleaved by the restriction enzymes BamHI and Xhol

Vector (pXP2) cleavage

Buffer (10x)	(10 ug/ul)	2 µl
Plasmid (1µg)	(10 µg/µi)	0.2 μι 5 μl
dH ₂ O		12.3 µl
BamHI		0.5 µl
Xhol		0.5 µl



Figure 2.5 pXP2 linearized by the restriction enzymes and subjected to agarose electrophoresis

Insert cleavage

Buffer (10x)	2 µl
Acetylated BSA (10 µg/µl)	0.2 µl
DNA	18 µl
BamHI	0.5 µl
Xhol	0.5 µl

After cleavage (4 h at 37 °C), 4 µl loading buffer was added and the cut product was loaded on 1 % agarose gel in TAE to check again for the correct size (Figure 2.5).Then the bands were cut and purified using the Gel purification kit (Qiagen).

2.8.4. Gel purification

Gel fragments containing the DNA fragment of the correct size were excised by a clean scalpel and weighed. Buffer QG was added (in a volume equal to 3 times the gel weight) and incubated at 50 °C for 10 min till the gel was dissolved. Then isopropanol was added (in equal volume to the gel weight) and the mixture was applied into a spin column assembled in a collection tube. The column was centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 1 min at room temperature to allow DNA to bind to the column.

The flow-through was discarded and Buffer QG (500 μ I) was added and the column was centrifuged for 1 min to remove any traces of agarose before the column was washed with 750 μ I buffer PE and centrifuged for 1 min.

The flow-through was discarded and the column was centrifuged for additional 1 min. The column was removed to a new 1.5 ml tube and 50 µl buffer EB added to the center of the membrane and centrifuged for 1 min to elute DNA.

2.8.5. Ligation

The concentration of digested vector and DNA insert was estimated by comparing the band intensity on the gel with that on the product data sheet of the ladder (Gene Ruler).

In each ligation reaction, a total of 1 μ g DNA (vector: insert in a ratio of 1:2) was mixed with 3 μ l ligation buffer, 2 μ l T4 DNA Ligase and dH₂O to 30 μ l. The reaction was incubated overnight at 4 °C and the ligated product was used to transform competent cells.

2.8.6. Generation of Competent HB101 cells

Commercially available HB101 cells were streaked on the surface of an agar plate without antibiotics and grown overnight at 37 °C. Then, a single colony was picked and inoculated into 3 ml LB medium free from antibiotics and grown overnight at 37 °C with shaking. This bacterial suspension was used to inoculate a larger volume of LB without antibiotics (200 ml) and incubated at 37 °C with shaking until they reached the logarithmic growth phase (Optical Density $OD_{600} = 0.4 - 0.6$). The bacterial suspension was then centrifuged at 5,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C and the pellet was resuspended in 200 ml ice-cold 0.1 M CaCl₂ and again centrifuged at 5,000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C. Washing with CaCl₂ was repeated two times before the pellet was resuspended in 5 ml ice-cold CaCl₂ and 100 µl aliquots were transferred to pre-chilled Eppendorf tubes. The samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at – 80 °C. To test for absence of any resistance to antibiotics, competent cells were streaked on the surface of an agar plate containing ampicillin on which they did not grow after overnight incubation at 37 °C. Also the competence of the cells evaluated by test transformation using plasmid was а control (HB101 competent cells have no resistance to antibiotics and they gain resistance

against certain antibiotic when they take in a plasmid expressing resistance gene to antibiotics, e.g. ampicillin in case of pXP2 or pGL3-basic).

2.8.7. Transformation

HB101 cells were transformed with the blank vector (pXP2 or pGL3-basic) or vectors containing the DNA inserts as follows:

100 μl competent cells (HB101) + 2 μl vector, on ice for 5 minutes at 42°C for 50 seconds on ice for 2 minutes

Then 900 μ I LB medium or SOC were added to the mixture and incubated at 37 °C for 1 hr with shaking (900 rpm).

The bacteria/vector solution (100 μ I) was streaked on the surface of an agar plate containing ampicillin (50 μ g/mI) so that only bacterial cells containing the vector could grow. In addition, the remaining solution was centrifuged at 5,000 x g for 5 minutes at 16 °C. The supernatant was discarded, the pellet was resuspended in 100 μ I SOC and plated on another agar plate containing ampicillin. The plates were incubated inverted up-side-down overnight at 37 °C.

To ensure appropriate ligation of the vector and the DNA insert in bacterial colonies that grew on ampicillin plates after transformation, colony PCR was performed to detect the presence of the correct DNA insert in several single colonies. Several single colonies were picked and each resuspended in 20 μ l water before colony PCR was performed.

2.8.8. Colony PCR

The PCR reaction consisted of

buffer (10x)	5 µl
dNTPs (5 mM)	1 µl
primer F (10 µM)	2.5 µl
primer R (10 µM)	2.5 µl
Taq polymerase	1 µl
DNA	10 µl
d H ₂ O	28 µl

The following PCR protocol was used

Initial denaturation	94 °C	10 minutes
Denaturation Annealing Extension	94 °C 58 °C 72 °C	20 seconds 30 seconds 2 minute repeated 30 x
Final extension	72 °C	7 minute
Hold	4°C	

Then, a positive colony (containing the correct insert size) (Figure 2.6) was inoculated in 3 LB (+ ampicillin 50 μ g/ml) and grown overday (8 h) and then used to inoculate larger volumes of LB (+ ampicillin) which was used for the isolation of large amounts of the plasmid.



Figure 2.6 Colony PCR for cPLA-2 and COX-2 constructs

2.8.8. Purification of the plasmid

For purification of the plasmids we used PureYield Plasmid Midiprep System (Promega) or Qiagen plasmid purification maxi kit.

2.8.8.1. PureYield Plasmid Midiprep System (Promega)

Thirty μ I bacterial suspension were inoculated in 3 ml LB (containing ampicillin 50 μ g/ml) and incubated at 37 °C with shaking for 8 hours. Then, 100 μ I of the bacterial suspension were inoculated into 100 ml LB (+ amp) in a 500-ml sterile flask and incubated at 37 °C with shaking for 16-21 h.

The cells were collected by centrifugation at 4.000 x g for 10 min at 16 °C and then resuspended in 3 ml cell resuspension solution. Cell lysis solution (3 ml) was added and mixed by inverting 5 times. After 3 min incubation at room temperature, neutralisation solution (5 ml) was added. The solution was mixed by inverting 10 times and incubated for 3 min at room temperature. Finally it was centrifuged at 6,000 x g for 30 min at 16 °C.

The supernatant was carefully transferred into the blue clearing column assembled on the white binding column connected to a vacuum manifold. The supernatant was left for 2 min to allow the debris to float upwards and then vacuum was applied till the solution passed through both columns. Then, the vacuum was released and the blue column discarded before 5 ml endotoxin removal wash were applied and allowed to pass through the column.

Twenty mI column wash were added and allowed to pass through the column. The vacuum continued for another 1-2 min to dry the column. Then, the column was transferred to a 50-mI tube and 600 μ I nuclease free water were added. To elute DNA, after 5 min at room temperature, the tubes (without lid) were centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 5 min at 16 °C. The concentration of the eluted DNA was determined spectrophotometrically at 260 nm.

2.8.8.2. Plasmid purification maxi kit (Qiagen)

Thirty μ I bacterial suspension were inoculated in 3 ml LB (containing ampicillin 50 μ g/ml) and incubated at 37 °C with shaking for 8 hours. Then, 200 μ I of the bacterial suspension were inoculated into 100 ml LB (+ amp) in a 500-ml sterile flask and incubated at 37 °C with shaking for 12-16 h.

The cells were collected by centrifugation at 6,000 x g for 15 min at 4 °C and then resuspended in 10 ml resuspension buffer P1 supplemented with RNase A (DNase free). Ten ml lysis buffer P2 were added and mixed by inverting 5 times. After 5 min incubation at room temperature, 10 ml of pre-chilled neutralisation buffer P3 were added. The solution was mixed by inverting 5 times and incubated for 20 min on ice. After further mixing, it was centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 30 min at 4 °C.

The supernatant was carefully transferred into a new tube and centrifuged again at 14,000 for 15 min at 4 °C. Then, the supernatant was carefully transferred into a column which was previously equilibrated with 10 ml equilibration buffer QBT. The solution was allowed to drain through the column by gravity and then the column was washed two times each with 30 ml wash buffer QC. DNA was eluted into a new tube using 15 ml elution buffer GF and then precipitated with 10.5 ml isopropanol. After centrifugation at 14,000 x g for 15 min at 4 °C the DNA pellet was washed with 5 ml 70 % ethanol, air dried and dissolved in sterile water. The concentration was determined spectrophotometrically at 260 nm

2.8.9. Sequencing

To ensure that PCR has synthesized the correct DNA insert(s) and that the previous steps did not cause any mutations in these sequences, we sequenced the DNA insert in each of our vectors.

The PCR reaction consisted of

 BD+
 3.2 μl

 Primer (10 μM)
 1.3 μl

 Plasmid (1 μg)
 Water to 8 μl

The following PCR protocol was used

94 °C	15 seconds
60 °C	4 minutes
	repeated 32 x

We performed two sequencing reactions for each insert using either the reverse primer used to synthesize that sequence or a primer directed against a sequence located in the plasmid (LUC-5) to get as much information as possible about the sequence of each insert.

Sephadex solution (750 μ I) was applied to a separating column placed in a collection tube and centrifuged at 4,000 x g for 5 minutes. The flow-through was discarded before centrifuging again. Then, the column was placed in a new 1.5 ml tube and the PCR product (8 μ I) + 2 μ I water were applied to the column and centrifuged at 4,000 x g for 5 minutes.

The flow-through was collected and mixed with 10 μ l HiDi in another 0.5 ml tube. Then the sequence was determined using the ABI Prism 310 Genetic Analyser. The obtained sequence was aligned to the original sequence of the DNA insert to check for any possible mutations or mismatches. Sequences were found to be identical using sequence analyser ABI prism software.

2.9. Transfection

Materials:

Lipofectamine 2000 Opti-MEM I medium phRL-TK pNF-ĸB-Iuc

Invitrogen Invitrogen Promega Stratagene

Pure cortical neurons in (24 well plates) were transfected at DIV 10 as follows:

2.9.1. Transfection of a single plasmid

Cell culture medium was replaced with 500 µl transfection medium (full neurobasal medium without antibiotics) and incubated for 24 h. Then the blank plasmid or

plasmid containing the gene constructs (1 μ g DNA/well) was diluted in 50 μ l Opti-MEM I MEM I medium. Also 1.5 μ l/well Lipofectamine 2000 was diluted in 50 μ l Opti-MEM I and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. Then, the diluted DNA and Lipofectamine were combined, mixed gently and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. 100 μ l of the combined solution were added to the appropriate wells (containing media without antibiotic) and mixed gently by rocking the plate. After incubation at 37 °C for 18-24 hours, the medium was replaced with stimulation medium with or without TNF and incubated for 6 hours before the transcriptional activity was assessed by luciferase assays.

2.9.2. Transfection of multiple plasmids

Plasmids containing the gene constructs (0.5 μ g), pBS and p65 or Flag-IKK-2-EE (0.5 μ g) together with 0.05 μ g phRL-TK were transfected using the same protocol described above. However, the transcriptional activity was assessed by the dual luciferase assay.

In another experiment, neurons were transfected with phRL-TK and pNF-κB-luc for 18-24 hr. Then, the cells were subjected to OGD for 4.5 h and 24 h recovery, before the transcriptional activity was assessed by dual luciferase.

2.10. Luciferase Assay

Materials:

100 mM KH₂PO₄ (pH 7.8) 180 mM EGTA (pH7.4) 1 M MgSO₄ 0.5 Glycylglycin (pH7.8) DL-Dithiothreitol (DTT) Luciferin

Merck Roth J.T.Baker Serva Roth Sigma

Glycylglycin buffer (pH 7.8) 5 ml 0.5 M Glycylglycin 1.5 ml 1M MgSO₄ 2.22 ml 180 mM EGTA Complete with water to 100 ml Assay Mix for 10 samples 1.5 ml Glycylglycin buffer 300 μl 100 mM KH₂PO₄ 20 μl 100 mM DTT 4 μl 1M ATP. 16 μl water.

Extraction buffer for 10 samples 1.1 ml Glygylglycin buffer 11 µl Triton x-100 (1%) 11 µl 100 mM DTT (1mM)

Luciferin 55 mg DTT 35.7 ml Glycylglycin buffer on ice 10 mg luciferin store aliquots at – 80 °C.

Luciferin mix 600 µl luciferin 2.4 ml Glycylglycin buffer 240 µl 100 mM DTT.

The cell culture medium was removed and the cells were washed once with ice-cold PBS. Then extraction buffer (110 μ I) was applied to each well and the cells were scraped and transferred to Eppendorf tubes. After centrifugation at 13,000 x g for 5 minutes at 4 °C, assay mix (184 μ I) was applied in each measurement tube, and 50 μ I sample were added just before measuring. The luminometer (Lumat LB 9501, Berthold) automatically subtracted the background activity, injected 100 μ I luciferin solution and measured the activity in the sample.

2.11. Dual Luciferase Assay

Materials:

Dual Luciferase Assay Kit

Promega

The kit is composed of: - Passive lysis buffer

- LAR II

- Stop & Glo solution

The cell culture medium was removed and the cells were washed once with cold PBS. Then, passive lysis buffer (100 μ l) was applied to each well and the cells were scraped and transferred to Eppendorf tubes. After centrifugation at 13,000 for 5 minutes at 4 °C, LAR II solution (100 μ l) was applied in each measurement tube. The background activity was measured before the sample (20 μ l) was added and the firefly luciferase activity measured. Finally, 100 μ l Stop & Glo solution was added to stop the firefly luciferase activity and to start the renilla luciferase activity. Firefly luciferase activity was expressed relative to the renilla luciferase activity as a control for differences in transfection efficiency or cell death.

2.12. Statistics

Student t-test was used for comparison of two groups and one way ANOVA was used for comparison between more than two groups. Data were expressed as means \pm S.E.M.

3. Results

Ischemia is accompanied by elevation in the levels of several inflammatory mediators including TNF (T. Liu et al., 1994), HMGB1 (J. B. Kim et al., 2006; J. Qiu et al., 2008), and interleukines (T. Liu et al., 1994; T. Sairanen et al., 2001). Ischemia also results in the activation of several transcription factors such as NF- κ B and AP-1 (Q. Wang et al., 2007).

In this study, we used an *in vivo* model of ischemia, MCAO in mice and an *in vitro* model, OGD of primary cortical neurons to investigate a possible link between the transcription factor NF-κB and some of the inflammatory mediators reported to play a role in stroke, namely the AA cascade end product, PGE₂, together with the 3 major genes responsible for its production cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1, and TNF. Our study investigated the role of HMGB1 in ischemia using primary cortical neurons or mixed neural cultures containing neurons, astrocytes and microglia.

3.1. Neuronal IKK2 is essential for arachidonic acid cascade activation following ischemia

To investigate the activation of the AA cascade following ischemia, mice were subjected to 48 h of ischemia using MCAO. The mRNA expression of the three AA cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 in the ischemic core and periphery was quantified using real time RT-PCR. We observed a 298 % induction in cPLA-2 in the ischemic core and a 178 % induction in the periphery of ischemia (Figure **3.1a**). Similarly, COX-2 was up-regulated to about 212 and 207 % in the ischemic core and in the periphery of ischemia respectively (Figure 3.1b), while mPGES-1 was induced up to 293 % in the ischemic core and to lesser extent (132 %) in the periphery of ischemia (Figure 3.1.c).



Figure 3.1: Ischemia (48 h MCAO) activates the arachidonic acid cascade,

3.1.a) mRNA expression of cPLA-2 was increased both in core and periphery of ischemia in wild-type mice but not in mice expressing a dominant inhibitor of IKK-2 in neurons. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.



3.1.b) mRNA expression of COX-2 was increased both in core and periphery of ischemia in wild-type mice but not in mice expressing a dominant inhibitor of IKK-2 in neurons. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.



3.1.c) mRNA expression of mPGES-1 was increased both in core and periphery of ischemia in wild-type mice but not in mice expressing a dominant inhibitor of IKK-2 in neurons. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

In parallel, we subjected mice expressing a dominant inhibitor of IKK-2 in neurons to cerebral ischemia (O. Herrmann et al., 2005). Fourty eight hours after MCAO, the mRNA expression of the three AA cascade genes in the ischemic core and periphery was quantified. However, we could not detect any up-regulation in the expression of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 in these mice after MCAO both in the ischemic core or in the periphery of ischemia (Figure 3.1a, b and c). Interestingly, these mice had less infarct volume in comparison to their littermates (O. Herrmann et al., 2005). This suggests that neuronal activation of IKK2 mediates the up-regulation of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 induced after ischemia. This effect may be responsible for the damage occurring in MCAO.

3.2. Oxygen glucose deprivation activates NF-κB and arachidonic acid cascade genes.

In an *in vitro* model of ischemia, primary cortical neurons were subjected to OGD for 4.5 h and allowed to recover for 24 h under normal conditions. OGD resulted in

neuronal cell death as indicated by the elevation in LDH release into the cell culture medium (Figure 3.2.a).

To test the possible involvement of NF- κ B in the effects observed following OGD, we transfected primary cortical neurons with phRL-TK and pNF- κ B-luc. In the latter the transcription and production of luciferase enzyme is driven by NF- κ B activating signals. Neurons were transfected for 24 h before the induction of OGD (4.5 h followed by 24 h recovery). Then, the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B was assessed using dual luciferase assay. Indeed, we observed a 196 % increase in the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B (Figure 3.2.b), indicating the involvement of NF- κ B in the effects observed in this *in vitro* model of ischemia.



Figure 3.2: Oxygen glucose deprivation (OGD, for 4.5 h followed by 24 h recovery) of primary cortical neurons is cytotoxic and activates both NF-KB and the arachidonic acid cascade.

3.2.a) Primary cortical neurons release more LDH into the medium after exposure to OGD. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

3.2.b) The transcriptional activity of NF- κ B was elevated following OGD in primary cortical neurons transfected with pNF- κ B-luc. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05, Student t-test.
In parallel, RNA was extracted from neuronal cultures subjected to OGD to investigate the mRNA expression of the AA cascade genes by real time RT-PCR. We found an induction of cPLA-2 and COX-2 at the mRNA level (Figure 3.2.c). We also checked the release of PGE_2 in the cell culture medium after OGD using specific ELISA for PGE_2 and found the level to be elevated after OGD (Figure 3.2.d).



3.2.c) mRNA expression of the arachidonic acid cascade genes cPLA-2 and COX-2 in primary cortical neurons was increased following OGD. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.



3.2.d) Primary cortical neurons release more PGE_2 into the medium after exposure to OGD. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

To identify the mediator responsible for the toxic effects observed after OGD, we subjected primary cortical neurons to OGD in the presence of SC-51089 (10 μ M), an EP1 antagonist (P. Zhou et al., 2008) or solvent. Interestingly, SC-51089 completely abolished the toxic effects observed after OGD (Figure 3.2.e), indicating that activation of the AA cascade following ischemia and the subsequent production of PGE₂ might play a role in the toxic effects observed.



3.2.e) Blocking the EP1 receptor by the antagonist SC-51089 (10 μ M) protected neurons against the toxic effects of OGD. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05 in comparison to non-OGD control, one way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test.

3.3. Tumor necrosis factor activates NF-kB and the arachidonic acid cascade genes expression.

TNF is reported to have a pro-inflammatory role after brain injuries such as ischemia (S. M. Allan and N. J. Rothwell, 2001). To investigate the effect of TNF on the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B, we transfected primary cortical neurons with pNF- κ B-luc vector. The cultures were transfected for 24 h, stimulated with TNF (10 ng/ml) for 6 h and then changes in the transcriptional activity were measured by means of the luciferase assay. Interestingly, TNF induced a 305 % increase in the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B indicating the involvement of NF- κ B in the effects produced by TNF (Figure 3.3.a).



Figure 3.3:Tumor necrosis factor (TNF, 10 ng/ml) activates NF- κ B and the arachidonic acid cascade genes in primary cortical neurons but does not induce cytotoxicity.

3.3.a) The transcriptional activity of NF- κ B was elevated in primary cortical neurons transfected with pNF- κ B-luc following stimulation with TNF for 6 h. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

The release of LDH into the medium after TNF treatment was not changed after 6, 15 and 24 h (Figure 3.3.b).



3.3.b) TNF did not change the level of LDH released into the cell culture medium by primary cortical neurons after 6, 15 and 24 hours. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

Next, we stimulated primary cortical neuronal cultures with TNF (10 ng/ml) for 6, 15 or 24 h and quantified the mRNA expression of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1

by real-time RT-PCR. Stimulation of neurons with TNF resulted in a 256 % induction of cPLA-2 after 6 hr and a smaller elevation at later time points (Figure 3.3.c).



3.3.c) mRNA expression of cPLA-2 in primary cortical neurons was increased following stimulation with TNF. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

Similarly, COX-2 mRNA levels were elevated to 202 % after 6 hr of stimulation with TNF (Figure 3.3.d) and also mPGES-1 levels were upregulated after 6 hr and declined at 15 and 24 h (Figure 3.3.e).







3.3.e) mRNA expression of mPGES-1 in primary cortical neurons was increased following stimulation with TNF. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

In parallel, we measured the levels of PGE_2 in the cell culture supernatant at the different time points following stimulation of neurons with TNF using an ELISA specific for PGE_2 and found the levels to be elevated at all time points (Figure 3.3.f).



3.3.f) Primary cortical neurons released more PGE_2 into the medium after 6, 15 and 24 h of exposure to TNF. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

3.4. TNF activation of NF-κB enhances the transcriptional activity of the arachidonic acid cascade genes

Next, we wanted to confirm the transcriptional regulation of the three AA cascade genes by NF- κ B. To do so we used an online software (www.gene-regulation.com) and analysed the promoter region of the cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 genes for probable NF- κ B binding sites. This analysis showed several binding sites for NF- κ B in the promoter regions of these genes (Figure 3.4.a).

- for cPLA-2, a single binding sequence was found at - 1637 (GGAATTCCCT).
- for COX-2, several binding sequences were detected at:
 - 427 (GGGGATTCCC),
 428 (AGGGGATTCC),
 591 8GGGTAGTTCC),
 704 (GGAAAATACC),
 1514 (GAAATTTCCC) and
 1515 (TGAAATTTCC).

- for mPGES-1, a single binding sequences was detected at - 801 (GGAAGGGCCA).

We constructed reporter fusion genes by inserting a short (-900/+80 bp) or a long (-1750/+80 bp) segment of the promoter sequence of the cPLA-2 and COX-2 genes into the promoterless vector pXP2. In these constructs, the transcriptional activity in the promoter region of these genes will drive the expression of luciferase. To test changes in the transcriptional activity induced in mPGES-1, we used the previously reported vectors (H. Naraba et al., 2002), which contain a short (-930/+33 bp) or a long (-1814/+33 bp) segment of the promoter region of mPGES-1 in the promoterless vector pGL3-basic to drive the expression of luciferase.



Figure 3.4. NF-KB can bind to and activate the arachidonic acid cascade genes, cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1.

3.4.a. Probable binding sites of NF-KB to the promoter regions of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. Binding sequences are shown in the left panel.

Primary cortical neurons were transfected with each of these constructs or the empty vector (which served as a background control) 24 h before being stimulated with TNF for 6 h. The transcriptional activity of cPLA-2 was only increased in case of the long construct cPLA-2(-1750/+80)-luc that contained the binding site for NF- κ B (Figure 3.4.b). Interestingly, the transcriptional activity of COX-2 was increased in both constructs that contain NF- κ B binding sites (Figure 3.4.b). However, the transcriptional activity of mPGES-1 was only increased in the case of the short construct mPGES(-930/+33)-luc (Figure 3.4.b).



3.4.b. Stimulation by TNF (10 ng/ml for 6 h) leads to induction of the transcription of the arachidonic acid cascade genes, cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

To further investigate the possible role of NF- κ B in driving the expression of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1, we decided to use two approaches. The first was to use an upstream activator of NF- κ B, IKK2, which is responsible for the phosphorylation and degradation of the inhibitory I κ B (N. D. Perkins, 2000). Once I κ B is degraded, free NF- κ B is immediately translocated into the nucleus where it binds to DNA inducing the expression of several genes (Q. Wang et al., 2007). The second approach was to use the active subunit of NF- κ B, p65 as a direct stimulant for the transcription of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 in primary cortical neurons.

First, we transfected primary cortical neurons with the vector bluescript (pBS) or the constitutively active IKK2 vector (B. Baumann et al., 2007) together with phRL-TK and one of the following constructs: cPLA(-900/+80)-luc, cPLA(-1750/+80)-luc, COX(-900/+80)-luc, COX(-1750/+80)-luc, mPGES(-930/+33)-luc or mPGES (-1814/+33)-luc. Six hours after transfection, the changes in the

transcriptional activity of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 were evaluated by measuring the firefly luciferase activity. In parallel, the renilla luciferase activity was measured to normalize for differences in cell death or transfection efficiency. Interestingly, we found out that the transcriptional activity for both constructs of cPLA-2 was significantly elevated under the influence of the constitutively active IKK2 (Figure 3.4.c). Similarly, the transcriptional activity for COX-2 and mPGES-1 constructs was increased by the constitutively active IKK2 (Figure 3.4.c).



3.4.c. Increasing the activity of NF- κ B by overexpressing a constitutively active IKK2 increased the transcriptional activity of the arachidonic acid cascade genes, cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, \star P<0.05, Student t-test.

This provides evidence that increasing the activity of NF-κB by the use of the constitutively active IKK2 construct (Flag-IKK2-EE) induces an increase in the transcription of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1.

The second approach was to test if direct activation of NF-κB could also trigger the expression of these genes. Primary cortical neurons were transfected with phRL-TK

and an expression plasmid for p65, RcCMV-p65 (M. L. Schmitz and P. A. Baeuerle, 1991) or bluescript (pBS) together with one of the following constructs: cPLA(-900/+80)-luc, cPLA(-1750/+80)-luc, COX(-900/+80)-luc, COX(-1750/+80)-luc, mPGES(-930/+33)-luc or mPGES (-1814/+33)-luc. Six hours after transfection, the transcriptional activity of each of the genes was measured by dual luciferase assay. Differences in transfection efficiency were normalized by renilla luciferase activity. The transcriptional activity of all constructs (cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1, both the short and the long constructs) was increased by overexpression of p65 (Figure **3.4.d**).



3.4.d. Direct stimulation of NF- κ B in primary cortical neurons by overexpression of p65 resulted in an elevation in the transcriptional activity of the arachidonic acid cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

This further confirms our conclusion that NF-κB regulates the transcription of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 in cultured primary cortical neurons.

3.5. Oxygen glucose deprivation-associated toxicity of primary cortical neurons is mediated through High mobility group box 1 protein release

When primary cortical neurons were subjected to OGD (4.5 hours and recovery for 24 hours), we noticed an elevation in the levels of HMGB1 in the cell culture medium (Figure 3.5.a).



Figure 3.5: HMGB1 is associated with death of primary cortical neurons subjected to OGD (4.5 hours and 24 hours recovery).

3.5.a. Neurons release HMGB1 following OGD. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

HMGB1 acts on several receptors including RAGE, TLR-2 and TLR-4 and other unidentified receptors (M. T. Lotze and K. J. Tracey, 2005). To study the role of HMGB1 in the toxic effects observed after OGD, we subjected primary cortical neurons to OGD in the presence of soluble RAGE (sRAGE, 50 µg/ml), which is the decoy receptor for RAGE blocking binding of agonists to RAGE (G. Marsche et al., 2007), or solvent. Interestingly, sRAGE completely abolished the toxic effects observed after OGD (Figure 3.5.b), indicating that the release of HMGB1 following ischemia may play a role in neuronal cell death.



3.5.b. sRAGE (50 μ g/ml) could protect neurons against the toxic effects of OGD. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05 in comparison to non-OGD control, non-OGD sRAGE and OGD sRAGE, one way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test.

3.6. Recombinant HMGB1 is not toxic to primary cortical neurons and does not activate NF-κB nor the expression of genes in the arachidonic acid cascade

In an attempt to confirm the role of HMGB1 in neuronal cell death following OGD, primary cortical neurons were stimulated with recombinant HMGB1 (500 ng/ml) for 24 h and cell death was investigated by measuring the release of LDH into the cell culture medium. Surprisingly, HMGB1 did not change the level of LDH released (Figure 3.6.a). To study the effects of HMGB1 on the NF- κ B signaling in primary cortical neurons, we transfected primary cortical neurons with pNF- κ B-luc vector for 24 hours, then stimulated with HMGB1 (500 ng/ml) for another 24 h before the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B was measured by luciferase assay. The transcriptional activity of NF- κ B was not different after stimulation with HMGB1 (Figure 3.6.b).



Figure 3.6. Stimulation of primary cortical neurons with the recombinant HMGB1 (500 ng/ml for 24 hours) is not toxic and does not activate NF-KB nor the arachidonic acid cascade.

3.6.a. Stimulation of primary cortical neurons with the recombinant HMGB1 does not change the amount of LDH released into the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8.

3.6.b. Stimulation of primary cortical neurons (transfected with pNF- κ B-luc) with the recombinant HMGB1 does not change the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

To identify a possible effect of HMGB1 on the AA cascade, primary cortical neurons were stimulated with HMGB1 for 24 hours. Then, RNA was isolated and used to perform real time RT-PCR for cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. We found no change in the expression of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 (Figure 3.6.c).

During this experiment, cell culture medium was collected and used to measure the level of PGE_2 using a specific ELISA. However, this revealed no change in the level of PGE_2 in response to HMGB1 (Figure 3.6.d) indicating that HMGB1 is not acting through NF- κ B or the AA cascade in primary cortical neurons.



3.6.c. Stimulation of primary cortical neurons with recombinant HMGB1 did not induce the expression of the arachidonic acid cascade genes (cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

3.6.d. Stimulation of primary cortical neurons with the recombinant HMGB1 did not change the level of PGE2 released into the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

3.7. Neuronal glial interaction mediates the toxic effect of HMGB1

To identify whether HMGB1 has a cell specific effect or not, we cultured pure cortical neurons, glial mixtures (astrocytes and microglia), pure astrocytes, pure microglia or mixed neural cultures containing all three types of cells (neurons, astrocytes and microglia) and stimulated each of these cultures with recombinant HMGB1 (500 ng/ml) for 24 h. Cell death was evaluated by measuring the amount of LDH released in the medium. Interestingly, HMGB1 had a toxic effect only on mixed neural cultures containing neurons, astrocytes and microglia (Figure 3.7.a), indicating the importance of the interaction between these cell types to mediate the effect(s) of HMGB1.



Figure 3.7. The interaction between neurons and glia is needed to mediate the effect of HMGB1.

3.7.a. Recombinant HMGB1 (500 ng/ml for 24 hours) is toxic only to cultures containing neurons, microglia and astrocytes (mixed neural cultures). Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

Since the toxic effect of HMGB1 was quite mild (only 25 – 35 % increase in LDH leakage from the cells into the cell culture medium), we wanted to confirm that this effect is really specific and not due to any possible contaminant endotoxins (although the effect was cell type specific and the levels of contaminants were far beyond the level reported to have any biological effects). For this purpose, we stimulated mixed neural cultures with heat-inactivated HMGB1 (heated at 95 °C for 5 min) and measured LDH release after 24 h. Indeed, heat-inactivated HMGB1 had lost its toxic effects and the levels of LDH in the culture medium were not significantly different from the control group (Figure 3.7.b).



3.7.b. Heat-inactivated HMGB1 is non toxic to mixed neural cultures proving specificity of the effects observed. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

Interestingly, when we stimulated mixed neural cultures with HMGB1 and measured changes in LDH level after 24 and 48 h, we found that mixed neural cultures release more LDH after 48 h than after 24 h in response to HMGB1 (Figure 3.7.c) confirming the specificity of the effect of HMGB1.



3.7.c. Time-dependant effect of HMGB1 stimulation of mixed neural cultures showing that the effect is increased by increasing the exposure time. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05 in comparison to 24 and 48 h control, one way ANOVA with Dunn's post hoc test.

In order to identify the mechanism of the observed effect of HMGB1, we wanted to identify the cell population which was killed in response to HMGB1. To do so we compared the number of neurons in our mixed neural cultures treated with HMGB1 or solvent by counting the number of NeuN-positive cells in these cultures. Indeed, HMGB1 reduced the number of neurons in mixed neural cultures and this was significantly different after 48 h (Figure 3.7.d and e).



3.7.d. Stimulation of mixed neural cultures with recombinant HMGB1 reduced the number of neurons in these cultures. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05 in comparison to 24 h control, one way ANOVA with Dunn's post hoc test.



3.7.e. IHC of NeuN in mixed neural cultures showing the reduction in the count of NeuNpositive cells 48 hours after stimulation with HMGB1. Scale bar 50 µm.

3.8. RAGE on microglia mediates the toxic effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures

In order to define the molecular basis for the effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures, we wanted to investigate the presence of HMGB1 receptors in our cell culture model. To do so we performed RT-PCR for TLR-2, TLR-4 and RAGE using cDNA obtained from whole brain, pure neuronal cultures, or pure microglial cultures and spleen tissue as a positive control. We used the levels of GAPDH as a house keeping gene. Whole brain expressed all receptors and both TLR-2 and TLR-4 were expressed by microglia, while neurons expressed only TLR-2 and RAGE (Figure 3.8.a).



Figure 3.8. RAGE on microglia mediates the toxic effects of HMGB1. 3.8.a. RT-PCR confirmed the presence of HMGB1 receptors in our cell culture model.

To investigate the expression of RAGE by microglia, we stained glial cultures for Iba-1, which is a marker for microglia, together with RAGE and found that some microglia express RAGE (Figure 3.8.b). Interestingly, stimulation of microglia with LPS (1 μ g/ml) for 24 h or OGD resulted in an increase in the number of microglia expressing RAGE (Figure 3.8.b) which was accompanied by a change in the morphology of microglia from the resting ramified shape to the stimulated amoeboid shape (Z. Xiang et al., 2006).



3.8.b. IHC of Iba-1 and RAGE showing the colocalization of both in some microglia and this colocalization is increased after stimulation with OGD or LPS (1 μ g/ml for 24 hours). Scale bar 50 μ m.

To confirm the role of RAGE in neuronal cell death following ischemia, we subjected mixed neural cultures to OGD in presence of sRAGE (50 μ g/ml) or solvent and investigated cell death by comparing the amount of LDH released in the cell culture medium between the two treatment groups. sRAGE, indeed, protected mixed neural cultures against the toxic effects of OGD (Figure 3.8.c).



3.8.c. sRAGE (50 μ g/ml) protected mixed neural cultures against OGD induced cell death. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05 in comparison to Non-OGD and OGD sRAGE, one way ANOVA with Dunn's post hoc test.

To further confirm the role of RAGE in mediating the effects of HMGB1 in our mixed neural culture model, we prepared mixed neural culture from different genotypes. Cultures containing RAGEko glia with wild-type neurons or cultures containing wild-type glia and wild-type neurons were stimulated with HMGB1. Interestingly, absence of RAGE on glia abolished the toxic effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures (Figure 3.8.d) which implies an important role of glial RAGE in mediating the effects of HMGB1.



3.8.d. Absence of RAGE on glia abolished the toxic effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

To confirm the effect of RAGE *in vivo*, bone marrow from wild-type or RAGEko mice was transplanted into irradiated wild-type mice. Six weeks later, MCAO was performed for 48 hours which showed that mice receiving RAGEko bone marrow had smaller infarcts (S. Muhammad et al., 2008). In order to find the role of RAGE on migrating macrophages we stained sections from mice of both groups for RAGE and Iba-1 and found less colocalization between RAGE and Iba-1 in mice which received bone marrow from RAGEko mice indicating that absence of RAGE on migrating macrophages could protect the mice against the damage occurring after MCAO (Figure 3.8.e).



3.8.e. IHC of sections obtained 48 hours after MCAO in mice transplanted with wild-type or RAGEko bone marrow showing less colocalization between RAGE and Iba-1 on migrating macrophages in case of bone marrow derived from RAGEko mice. Scale bar 50 μ M.

3.9. Microglia/macrophage mediates the toxic effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures.

In order to test the role of microglia in the observed response to HMGB1, we wanted to deplete mixed neural cultures from microglia and investigate the response of microglia-depleted cultures to HMGB1. To do so we applied two approaches:

First, we treated wild-type glial cultures with liposomes containing PBS or clodronate (25 % W/V) which is reported to deplete microglia and macrophages *in vivo* (N. van Rooijen and E. van Kesteren-Hendrikx, 2002). Treatment of glial

cultures with liposomes (0.2 ml / 3 ml medium) for 24 hours reduced the number of Iba-1-positive cells (Figure 3.9.a and b).



Figure 3.9. Microglia and macrophages mediate the toxic effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures.

3.9.a. Treatment of glial cultures with clodronate containing liposomes reduced the number of Iba-1-positive cells. Values are means \pm SEM, n=4, * P<0.05, Student t-test.



3.9.b. IHC of Iba-1 in glial cultures after treatment with PBS or clodronate containing liposomes showing the depletion of microglia by clodronate treatment. Scale bar 50 μ M.

After treatment with liposomes, HMGB1 did not increase the level of LDH in the cell culture medium (Figure 3.9.c).



3.9.c. Stimulation with HMGB1 of glial cultures pretreated with PBS or clodronate containing liposomes showed no significant difference in cell death between the different groups. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

When neurons were cocultured with glia pretreated with PBS or clodronate containing liposomes HMGB1 had no effect on liposome-treated cultures (PBS or clodronate) (Figure 3.9.d). However, the basal level of LDH release was higher in case of cultures pretreated with clodronate containing liposomes, indicating that treatment of cultures with liposome had affected all cell populations in the culture and lead to loss of the effect of HMGB1 in both cases.



3.9.d. Stimulation with HMGB1 (500 ng/ml) of mixed neural cultures in which glia were pretreated with PBS or clodronate containing liposomes did not affect LDH release. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

When we checked cell death by apoptosis using a specific ELISA kit for DNA histone complexes, we found that HMGB1 caused a mild but non-significant increase in cell death by apoptosis in both groups. However, the basal level was much higher in the group that was pretreated with clodronate containing liposomes (Figure 3.9.e) indicating that at least in our cell culture model, liposome treatment affects more cells than only microglia.



3.9.e. HMGB1 did not cause a significant increase in apoptotic cell death after pretreatment with PBS or clodronate containing liposomes. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

The second approach to deplete mixed neural cultures from microglia was to prepare glia from CD11b-DTR mice which express diphtheria toxin receptor only in microglia (V. Stoneman et al., 2007). Treatment of cultures prepared from these mice with diphtheria toxin should only kill microglia. Indeed, treatment with diphtheria toxin (100 ng/ml) for 24 hours resulted in a reduction in the number of Iba-1-positive cells (Figure 3.9. f).



3.9.f. IHC of Iba-1 in glial cultures prepared from CD11b-DTR-positive mice after treatment with diphtheria toxin (100 ng/ml) or solvent showing the depletion of microglia in these cultures. Scale bar 50 μ M.

Stimulation with HMGB1 (500 ng/ml for 24 hours) caused only a mild nonsignificant increase in LDH release (Figure **3.9.g**), indicating that the presence of microglia is indeed important to mediate the effect of HMGB1.



3.9.g. Stimulation with HMGB1 of mixed neural cultures in which CD11b-DTR-positive glia were pretreated with diphtheria toxin or solvent showed a mild nonsignificant elevation in LDH release. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

As an alternative approach, we decided to mimic the *in vivo* situation following ischemia, which is characterized by an increase in the migration of blood derived immune cells such as macrophages (R. Tanaka et al., 2003), neutrophils (J. M. Hallenbeck, 1996) and other cell types to the site of the injury. We cocultured mixed neural cultures with peritoneal macrophages. When mixed neural cultures grown with macrophages were stimulated with HMGB1 for 48 hours we noticed a large increase in cell death from 198 % to 383 % (Figure 3.9.h).



3.9.h. Coculture of mixed neural cultures with peritoneal macrophages increased the toxic effect of HMGB1. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P<0.05 in comparison to non-HMGB1 controls, one way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc.

3.10. Prostaglandin E_2 released from microglia mediates the toxic effect of HMGB1

In an attempt to identify the mediator responsible for the interaction between the different cell populations in our cell culture model, we cultured pure microglia and stimulated them with HMGB1 for 24 h before cell culture medium was removed and processed for the measurement of LDH and PGE₂ using a specific ELISA. We found that HMGB1 could increase the levels of PGE₂ released in the medium by about 30 % (Figure 3.10.a). This was not accompanied by any change in the cell

death as seen from the similar level of LDH released into the cell culture medium in both groups (Fig 3.10.b)



Figure 3.10. HMGB1 (500 ng/ml for 24 hours) induced the release of PGE2 from microglia and causes cell death in mixed neural cultures.

3.10.a). Stimulation with HMGB1 of pure microglial cultures resulted in an elevation in the release of PGE2 into the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05, Student t-test.

3.10.b). Stimulation with HMGB1 of pure microglial cultures did not cause any change in the release of LDH into the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8.

Nevertheless, we could not find similar changes in PGE_2 in case of mixed neural cultures stimulated with HMGB1 for 24 h (Figure 3.10.c).



3.10.c. Stimulation with HMGB1 of mixed neural cultures did not change the level of PGE_2 released in the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8.

To confirm a possible role of PGE_2 released by microglia in mediating the effect of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures, we applied NS-398, a well established inhibitor of COX-2 activity (H. C. Choi et al., 2008). NS-398 (10 μ M) was applied to mixed neural cultures 1 hour before stimulation with HMGB1 for 24 h. Then PGE₂ levels in the cell culture medium were quantified in comparison to a control group, which received only the solvent DMSO. Indeed, pretreatment with NS-398 reduced the level of PGE₂ in the medium to less than 50 % of the solvent treated groups (Figure 3.10.d).



3.10.d) Stimulation with HMGB1 of mixed neural cultures pretreated with NS-398 (10 μ M) or solvent resulted in a significant reduction in the level of PGE2 released into the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=8, * P<0.05 in comparison to DMSO treated groups, one way ANOVA with Dunn's post hoc test.

At the same time, media were also used to measure the levels of LDH as a marker of cell death. Surprisingly, after 24 h with NS-398 or DMSO, the toxic effect of HMGB1 was not detectable anymore and the level of LDH released into the cell culture medium was the same between all groups (Figure 3.10.e).



3.10.e. Stimulation with HMGB1 (for 24 hours) of mixed neural cultures pretreated with NS-398 (10 μ M) or DMSO showed no change in the level of LDH released into the medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6

However, when the stimulation time was increased to 48 h, HMGB1 had a toxic effect on DMSO treated mixed neural cultures but not in NS-398 treated cultures (Figure 3.10.f) although the effect after treatment with DMSO was less than that observed without DMSO (Figure 3.10.f) thus, blocking PGE_2 production can rescue mixed neural cultures from the toxic effects of HMGB1.



3.10.f. Stimulation with HMGB1 (for 48 hours) of mixed neural cultures pretreated with NS-398 (10 μ M) or DMSO showed that blocking the release of PGE2 by NS-398 protected the cultures against the toxic effects of HMGB1. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P< 0.05, Student t-test.

3.11. Ischemia induces the release of HMGB1 from neurons but not from glia

In order to identify the cell population which releases HMGB1 after OGD, glial cultures were subjected to OGD. Then, we stained the cells for HMGB1 together with GFAP as a marker for astrocytes or CD11b as a marker for microglia and compared the colocalization under normal and OGD conditions. Colocalization was not changed by OGD indicating that in our model of OGD, astrocytes and microglia retain their content of HMGB1 following OGD (Figure 3.11.a).



Figure 3.11. OGD (4.5 hours and 24 hours recovery) of mixed neural cultures induced the release of HMGB1 from neurons not microglia or astrocytes.

3.11.a. IHC of glial cultures after OGD showing the colocalization of HMGB1 and the microglial marker CD11b or the astrocytic marker GFAP under normal and OGD conditions. Scale bar 50 μ M.

We also used media obtained from glial cultures subjected to OGD to measure the levels of HMGB1 released into the medium and found no change between control

and OGD groups (Figure 3.11.b), although there was a mild increase in LDH release after OGD (Figure 3.11.c).



3.11.b. OGD of glial cultures did not increase the release of HMGB1 into the cell culture medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6.

3.11.c. OGD of glial cultures caused an increase the release of LDH into the cell culture medium. Values are means \pm SEM, n=6, * P< 0.05, Student t-test.

When mixed neural cultures were subjected to OGD and then stained for HMGB1 and NeuN as a marker of neurons, we found a decrease in the number of double positive cells and also a reduction in the HMGB1 staining intensity in NeuN-positive cells (Figure 3.11.d), indicating that OGD induced the release of HMGB1 from neurons.



3.11.d. IHC of mixed neural cultures after OGD showing less colocalization of HMGB1 and the neuronal marker NeuN after OGD. Scale bar 50 μ M.

To confirm the observation that HMGB1 is released after ischemia, sections obtained from mice subjected to MCAO for 4 hours were stained for HMGB1. Interestingly, there was a profound reduction in the number of cells, which express HMGB1 in the ischemic hemisphere (periphery) and a complete loss in the core of ischemia in comparison to the contralateral hemisphere (Figure 3.11.e) indicating that mild ischemic insults as OGD (*in vitro*) or in the periphery of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons), while, severe ischemic insults as in the core of ischemia (*in vivo*) caused the release of HMGB1 from some cells (probably neurons).



3.11.e. IHC of sections obtained 4 hours after MCAO showing the complete loss of HMGB1 signal in the core of ischemia and the partial loss in the periphery of ischemia. For comparison, nuclei were stained by DAPI. Scale bar 50 μ M.

4. Discussion

4.1. Summary of the results

In the present study, we show that ischemia induces genes involved in the AA cascade both *in vivo* and *in vitro* and that the induction is dependent on NF- κ B signaling. The *in vitro* experiments also showed that PGE₂ was associated with the neurotoxicity observed after OGD of primary cortical neurons. We also show that the three genes of the AA cascade, cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 have probable binding sites where NF- κ B can bind and induce their expression.

Stimulation of primary cortical neurons with TNF activated NF- κ B and induced the expression of the three genes, cPLA-2, and COX-2 and mPGES-1 both at the transcriptional level and at the mRNA level. TNF also induced the production of the AA cascade end product PGE₂. In addition, increasing the activity of NF- κ B by the use of the constitutively active IKK-2 construct or the active subunit p65 both resulted in a significant induction in the transcription of the three target genes.

In addition, we studied the effect of the late mediator of inflammation HMGB1 following ischemia and confirmed its role in mediating some of the toxic effects observed after ischemia. HMGB1 was released from neurons (but not from microglia or astrocytes) after ischemia. Blocking its effects using the decoy receptor sRAGE was found to be protective both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. However, stimulation of primary cortical neurons with recombinant HMGB1 was not toxic and toxicity was only induced in cultures containing neurons, astrocytes and microglia (mixed neural cultures).

The toxic effect of HMGB1 was dependent on the presence of RAGE on glia (microglia in mixed neural cultures and microglia or infiltrating macrophages *in vivo* after MCAO). Moreover, the toxicity following OGD was abolished by sRAGE both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Depletion of microglia *in vitro* showed that microglia are important for mediating the toxic effect of HMGB1 and also the application of macrophages on the cultures exacerbated the toxicity induced by HMGB1. We

found that microglia release PGE_2 in response to HMGB1 and blocking the production of PGE_2 protected against the toxic effects of HMGB1.

4.2. Mechanisms of stroke associated damage

Stroke (focal cerebral ischemia) affects 15 million people worldwide each year and is a leading cause of death or long-term disability (J. H. Yi et al., 2007). However, the only drug approved for clinical use in most countries is the thrombolytic agent recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rt-PA) which is only given to 4–5% of patients due to the short therapeutic time window of 3 h in which thrombolysis is safe (A. R. Green, 2008). Therefore, new treatments are needed that are still effective when administered with some delay after onset of stroke.

Stroke in experimental animals and humans leads to an infarct with a core where the blood flow is decreased by up to 100 % surrounded by a penumbra with about 90 % reduction in blood flow (J. H. Yi et al., 2007). Following stroke, oxygen and glucose insufficiency in the core lead to mitochondrial failure and inability of the cells to maintain ionic gradients across the membrane resulting in necrotic cell death.

Anoxic depolarization in the core is accompanied by elevated extracellular potassium and glutamate, intracellular calcium, generation of free radicals, oxidative stress and lactic acidosis which adds to the overall neuronal damage. However, in the penumbra, ischemia itself is not sufficiently severe to cause cell death and penumbral neurons could be rescued by therapies given within the first 6 hours following stroke (P. Lipton, 1999).

Neuroinflammation is a host defense mechanism which aimed to neutralize the insult and restore the normal structure and function of brain. All neural cells, including microglia, astrocytes, neurons, and oligodendrocytes, participate in inflammatory responses. However, microglia play the most important role. Microglial cells are activated during a CNS injury and initiate a rapid response that involves cell migration, proliferation and release of cytokines/chemokines, which stimulate

phospholipases A2 and cyclooxygenases. This results in breakdown of membrane glycerophospholipids with the release of AA and DHA (A. A. Farooqui et al., 2007).

AA and its metabolites play an important role in inflammation (D. Tassoni et al., 2008). Oxidation of AA produces pro-inflammatory prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and thromboxanes, while, DHA is metabolized to resolvins and neuroprotectins, that inhibit the generation of prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and thromboxanes (A. A. Farooqui et al., 2007). All isoforms of PLA2 and COX in the brain were reported to be stimulated after inflammation and this involved the NF- κ B-mediated induction of TNF-a, IL-1 β , and chemokines (A. A. Farooqui et al., 2007).

4.3. Stroke induces the arachidonic acid cascade genes through NF-κB activation

Following MCAO, we observed an upregulation in the mRNA expression of the three AA cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 both in the ischemic core and its periphery. Interestingly, when mice expressing a dominant inhibitor of IKK-2 in neurons were subjected to MCAO, we could not detect similar elevations in the expression of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 indicating that, MCAO can induce the expression of the three AA cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 and that the expression of the AA cascade genes depends on intact NF-κB signaling. Recently it was shown that transient ischemia resulted in an induction of cPLA-2 (C. Nito et al., 2008), COX-2 (E. Candelario-Jalil and B. L. Fiebich, 2008) and mPGES-1 (Y. Ikeda-Matsuo et al., 2006).

A link between NF- κ B and the AA cascade genes was previously reported although in different models and cell types. Blocking NF- κ B was shown to reduce the expression and release of phospholipases (M. Lappas et al., 2004), and COX-2 was previously reported to be a target of NF- κ B (B. Kaltschmidt et al., 2002). In addition, inhibition of NF- κ B signaling through blockade of IKK2 was recently shown to decrease the expression of COX-2, mPGES-1 and the production of PGE₂ in LPSactivated rat microglia (A. C. de Oliveira et al., 2008). However, in this study we
provide evidence that NF-κB activity in neurons is essential for the induction of the AA cascade genes after MCAO and OGD.

4.4. OGD induces the arachidonic acid cascade genes and NF-κB

In addition, OGD of primary cortical neurons, an *in vitro* model of ischemia, (F. He et al., 2008), was accompanied by an induction in the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B. Activation of NF- κ B following ischemia was previously described both *in vivo* (A. Schneider et al., 1999) and *in vitro* (A. Cardenas et al., 2000). OGD was also accompanied by an increase in the expression of the AA cascade genes cPLA-2 and COX-2 and by an increase in the production of PGE₂ in accordance with previous experiments (E. Candelario-Jalil et al., 2003; C. Yokota et al., 2004).

Blocking EP1 receptor (using the blocker SC-51089) resulted in protection of the cultures against the toxic effects observed after OGD providing further evidence for the toxic effect of PGE₂. Our in vitro findings confirm the work of Kawano et al that EP1 is the main PGE₂ receptor mediating neurotoxicity (T. Kawano et al., 2006). However, they used a different insult.

Ischemia is known to induce the activity of several transcription factors including NF- κ B which controls the expression of several genes involved in inflammatory conditions such as ischemia. Cerebral ischemia also induces the production of several cytokines such as TNF, IL1 β and leads to the release of HMGB1 which is a late mediator of inflammation known to be released passively or actively at late stages following inflammatory conditions such as sepsis, heat shock and ischemia.

The activation of NF- κ B is well known to contribute to the injury following ischemia (A. Schneider et al., 1999). NF- κ B is present in an inactive state, complexed to I κ B proteins in the cytoplasm. However, upon stimulation, I κ B proteins are phosphorylated, ubiquitinated and degraded by proteasome releasing free NF- κ B to translocate to the nucleus (M. Schwaninger et al., 2006). This is mediated mainly by the IKK complex composed of IKK1 (or IKK α), IKK2 (or IKK β) and IKK3 (or IKK γ).

4.5. TNF induces the arachidonic acid cascade genes and NF-κB

Ischemia is known to increase the levels of TNF (L. Zhou et al., 2008). Therefore, we decided to use TNF as a stimulant of primary cortical neurons to study the mechanism(s) of the toxic effect observed after ischemia. In the tested concentration of TNF we observed no neurotoxicity but found activation of the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B in accordance with previous results (G. Bonizzi and M. Karin, 2004).

Also we found an induction in the mRNA expression of the three AA cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 in primary cortical neurons stimulated with TNF at different time point. This was also accompanied by an increase in the production of PGE₂. TNF was known to activate cPLA-2 and thus increase the release of AA which is then metabolized to produce eicosanoids which are potent inflammatory mediators (M. Kronke and S. Adam-Klages, 2002). The expression of COX-2 was reported to be induced by TNF (Y. C. Chang et al., 2003) and also mPGES-1 expression could be induced by TNF (K. Subbaramaiah et al., 2004).

In order to find a possible link between the induction in the three AA cascade genes and the activation of NF-κB transcriptional activity that was induced in primary cortical neurons stimulated with TNF, we created reporter fusion genes in which the transcriptional activity of each of the AA cascade genes cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 can be induced by binding of NF-κB to their prompter regions. We found that stimulation of neurons transfected with these reporter fusion genes with TNF induced the transcription of cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1 indicating that induction of NF-κB activity by TNF can trigger the transcription of the three AA cascade genes. In addition, we found that increasing the activity of NF-κB using the constitutively active IKK2 construct or p65 (active subunit of NF-κB) also resulted in an increase in the transcription of the three AA cascade genes which clearly indicated that, NF-κB regulates the expression of the three AA cascade genes, cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1. Hence the production of PGE₂ which mediates some of the toxic effects observed after ischemia is controlled by NF-κB.

4.6. HMGB1 is associated with ischemia induced neuronal cell death

In our *in vitro* model of ischemia (OGD) of primary cortical neurons we found an increase in the level of HMGB1 released into the medium which was also reported by others following ischemia (R. S. Goldstein et al., 2006). However, when glial cultures were subjected to OGD we found no change in the levels of HMGB1 released into the medium indicating that, our mild model of ischemia can induce the release of HMGB1 from neurons but not from glia. The effects of HMGB1 are mediated mainly through its interaction with RAGE. TLR2 and TLR4 are other membrane receptors that bind HMGB1 in addition to RAGE (J. S. Park et al., 2004; J. S. Park et al., 2006), although a recent study has questioned this finding (J. Tian et al., 2007).

HMGB1 is a nonhistone DNA binding protein that is widely expressed in various tissues including the brain and was thought to be important only for the stabilization of nucleosomal structures and the facilitation of gene transcription (M. Bustin, 1999). However, recently, it was shown to act as a cytokine-like mediator of delayed endotoxin lethality and acute lung injury (H. Wang et al., 1999).

HMGB1 can be secreted actively from macrophages and monocytes or passively released by necrotic cells (J. B. Kim et al., 2006). It has been also shown that HMGB1 is released in the brain, after cytokine stimulation and after ischemia (J. Qiu et al., 2008). However, actively released HMGB1 is highly acetylated by nuclear acetyltransferase before secretion, whereas passively released HMGB1 is not acetylated (T. Bonaldi et al., 2003) and so acetylated HMGB1 may have different biological properties and functions that differ from passively released or recombinant HMGB1.

Extracellular HMGB1 may exert its effects through different receptors including RAGE, TLR-2 and TLR-4 (J. R. Klune et al., 2008). Absence of RAGE (L. G. Bucciarelli et al., 2008) or TLR-2 (S. C. Tang et al., 2007) or TLR-4 (U. Kilic et al., 2008) is protective to animals subjected to ischemia.

RAGE is a multi-ligand membrane receptor, which can be activated by several ligands in cerebral ischemia. Hyperglycemia, a common finding in stroke patients (J. F. Scott et al., 1999), enhances the production of AGEs that have been shown to contribute to neurotoxicity during ischemic stroke (G. A. Zimmerman et al., 1995). In addition, there is evidence that $A\beta$ is involved in the pathogenesis of ischemic brain injury (M. Koistinaho and J. Koistinaho, 2005) and that S100 proteins are released during ischemia and modulate its outcome (D. Kogel et al., 2004). However, the most obvious RAGE activator in stroke seems to be HMGB1 that is known to be released from necrotic cells (B. Degryse et al., 2001; P. Scaffidi et al., 2002).

4.7. HMGB1 is not acting through NF-κB nor the arachidonic acid cascade in primary cortical neurons

To test whether HMGB1 mediates some of the toxic effects of OGD, we treated primary cortical neuronal cultures with the decoy receptor sRAGE before and during OGD and found that sRAGE abolished the toxic effects observed after ischemia indicating a role of HMGB1 in that toxic effect. Protective effects were also observed by blocking RAGE in other models of ischemic injury (S. Zeng et al., 2004). However, stimulation of primary cortical neurons with the recombinant HMGB1 did not induce cell death (no change in the amount of LDH released into the medium), did not increase the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B, did not induce the mRNA expression of the three AA cascade genes (cPLA-2, COX-2 and mPGES-1) and did not increase the production of PGE₂ indicating that in our model of primary cortical neurons, recombinant HMGB1 is not acting through NF- κ B or the AA cascade.

4.8. Neuronal glial interaction mediates the toxic effects of HMGB1

We wondered if the effects of endogenous HMGB1 released passively after OGD differ from that of the recombinant HMGB1 or if the effect was cell specific. To answer this question, we applied recombinant HMGB1 on different primary cells (pure cortical neurons, mixed glia, pure microglia, primary astrocytes or mixed neural cultures) and found that HMGB1 is toxic only to cultures which contained

neurons, astrocytes and microglia (mixed neural cultures) indicating that interaction between these cells is required to mediate the toxic effects of recombinant HMGB1.

4.9. HMGB1 is toxic to neurons in mixed neural culture

In order to determine the mechanism of that interaction, we tried to solve several questions. First, we wanted to identify the cells which were dying in response to HMGB1 and found out that neurons were killed after exposure of mixed neural cultures to HMGB1 and this was more evident after prolonged exposure time.

Second, was to identify the receptor responsible for this effect, the first candidate being RAGE, we treated mixed neural cultures with sRAGE before and during OGD and found that the cultures were protected against the toxic effects of OGD by treatment with sRAGE, which is similar to the effect seen in pure cortical neurons and with previous reports (S. Zeng et al., 2004).

4.10. RAGE on glia is essential for the neurotoxic effect of HMGB1

The third aim was to identify the cells which express RAGE and are responsible for mediating the toxic effect of recombinant HMGB1. RAGE is localized on all types of brain cells. Activation of RAGE on neurons has been shown to stimulate the production of reactive oxygen species and to lead to the death of neuron-like cell lines (S. D. Yan et al., 1996; A. M. Vincent et al., 2006). RAGE is involved in the recruitment of neutrophils by HMGB1 (V. V. Orlova et al., 2007) and neutrophil recruitment contributes to ischemic brain injury, at least in transient cerebral ischemia (R. L. Zhang et al., 1995), suggesting that the cells mediating the RAGE effect could be neutrophils.

However, when we stimulated mixed neural cultures, in which glia lack RAGE, with recombinant HMGB1, they were not affected in contrast to cultures in which glia express RAGE indicating that the presence of RAGE on glia is essential for the toxic effects of HMGB1 on mixed neural cultures. This was also confirmed by bone marrow transplantation of RAGEko or wild-type marrow into irradiated wild-type mice followed after 6 weeks by MCAO. We found that mice receiving RAGEko

marrow had smaller infarcts and their brains contained fewer RAGE expressing macrophages confirming that absence of RAGE on infiltrating macrophages can reduce the damage occurring after MCAO.

To further identify the individual glial cell type responsible for mediating the toxic effect of HMGB1 *in vitro*, we depleted mixed neural cultures from microglia using clodronate liposomes in wild-type cultures or diphtheria toxin in cultures prepared from CD11b-DTR mice and found a tendency towards a reduced toxic effect of HMGB1 suggesting that mainly microglia mediate the toxic effect of HMGB1. To further confirm the role of microglia, we added peritoneal macrophages to mixed neural cultures before stimulating them with recombinant HMGB1 and found that the presence of macrophages exacerbates the response of mixed neural cultures to recombinant HMGB1.

Since macrophages enhanced the toxic effect of HMGB1 on the viability of mixed neural cultures, we propose that RAGE activated by HMGB1 functions as a sensor of necrotic cell death at the core of the ischemia and mediates the activation of brain macrophages, mainly immigrant macrophages.

4.11. HMGB1 induces the release of PGE₂ from microglia which has a neurotoxic effect

The next aim was to identify the mediator responsible for the interaction between microglia and neurons after HMGB1 stimulation. We observed an increase in the level of PGE₂ released into the medium after stimulation of microglia by HMGB1 and found that blocking the production of PGE₂, with the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 protected mixed neural cultures from the toxic effects of recombinant HMGB1 indicating that PGE₂ might be responsible for the interaction between neurons and microglia that mediated the toxic effects of HMGB1.

4.12. Suggested model for the interaction between neurons and microglia after ischemia

In conclusion, we propose that PGE₂ released by neurons and/or microglia mediate some of the toxic effects of ischemia. Ischemia (among other effects) activates NFκB in neurons that leads to the induction of genes involved in PGE₂ synthesis which mediates a neurotoxic effect by acting on EP1 receptors. In addition to that, ischemia induces neuronal death and the necrotic neurons release HMGB1 acting on RAGE receptor on microglia/macrophages. RAGE activation stimulates the AA cascade in microglia/macrophages and the subsequent production of PGE₂. PGE₂ released by microglia/macrophages act on neurons producing a kind of feedback loop which increases the neurotoxic effect occurring after ischemia (Figure 4.1). a similar model was proposed by Block et al., 2007 but they did not investigate the role of HMGB1 released from neurons (M. L. Block et al., 2007).



Figure 4.1. Suggested model for the interaction between neurons and microglia after insults such as ischemia, after M. L. Block et al., 2007 (with modification).

Abbreviation

4-HHE	4-hydroxyhexenal	
4-HNE	4-hydroxynonenal	
AA	Arachidonic acid	
ABTS	2,2-azino-di-3-ethylbenzthiazoline-sulfonic acid	
AGEs	advanced glycation end products	
AP-1	Activator protein-1	
ATF-2	Activating transcription factor-2	
Αβ	amyloid β-peptide	
BBB	Blood-brain barrier	
BSA	Bovine serum albumin	
C/EBPβ	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) beta	
Ca ²⁺	calcium	
CD11b	Cluster of Differentiation molecule 11b	
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2	
cPLA-2	Cytosolic phospholipase A-2	
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole dihyd-rochloride	
DCs	dendritic cells	
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid	
DIV	day <i>in vitro</i>	
DMEM	Dubellco's modified eagles medium	
E16	embryonic day 16	
Egr-1	Early growth response-1	
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase	
EPOX	Epoxygenase	
FBS	Fetal bovine serum	
FDA	Food and drug administration	
FFA	Free fatty acid	
GFAP	Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein	
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution	
HIF-1	Hypoxia inducible factor-1	
HMGB1	High mobility group box 1 protein	
lba-1	Ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1	
ICAM	Intracellular adhesion molecule-1	
IFN-γ	Interferon-y	

IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL-1ra	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
LB	Lysogeny broth Medium
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LOX	Lipoxygenases
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LysoPlsEtn	ethanolamine lysoplasmalogen
LysoPtdCho	lysophosphatidylcholine
MCAO	Middle cerebral artery occlusion
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MIP-1	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases
Mn-SOD	manganese superoxide dismutase
mPGES-1	Microsomal prostaglandin E ₂ synthase-1
NeuN	Neuronal Nuclei
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NGS	Normal goat serum
NHS	Normal horse serum
NID	Non ionic detergent buffer
NLS	Nuclear localization sequence
NMRI	Naval Medical Research Institute
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NO	Nitric oxide
OGD	Oxygen glucose deprivation
P2	postnatal day 2
PAF	Platelet-activating factor
PARP	poly(ADP)-ribose polymerase enzyme
PBS	Phosphate balanced saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PFA	Para–formaldehyde
PGE ₂	Prostaglandin E ₂
Pgg₂	prostaglandin G ₂
Pgh₂	prostaglandin H ₂
PIsEtn	ethanolamine plasmalogen
PIsEtn-PLA2	Plasmalogen-selective phospholipase A2
РМ	plasma membrane

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
phosphatidylcholine
Receptor for advanced glycation end products
Rel homology domain
Reactive oxygen species
Reverse transcription-PCR
Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
transgene
Transforming growth factor-ß
Toll like receptor-2
Toll like receptor-4
Tumor necrosis factor
Tissue plasminogen activator
Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
wild-type

References

- Abbassi O, Kishimoto TK, McIntire LV, Anderson DC, Smith CW (1993) E-selectin supports neutrophil rolling in vitro under conditions of flow. J Clin Invest 92:2719-2730.
- Adibhatla RM, Hatcher JF (2005) Cytidine 5'-diphosphocholine (CDP-choline) in stroke and other CNS disorders. Neurochem Res 30:15-23.
- Adibhatla RM, Hatcher JF, Dempsey RJ (2003) Phospholipase A2, hydroxyl radicals, and lipid peroxidation in transient cerebral ischemia. Antioxid Redox Signal 5:647-654.
- Adibhatla RM, Dempsy R, Hatcher JF (2008) Integration of cytokine biology and lipid metabolism in stroke. Front Biosci 13:1250-1270.
- Ahmad AS, Ahmad M, de Brum-Fernandes AJ, Dore S (2005) Prostaglandin EP4 receptor agonist protects against acute neurotoxicity. Brain Res 1066:71-77.
- Akiba S, Sato T (2004) Cellular function of calcium-independent phospholipase A2. Biol Pharm Bull 27:1174-1178.
- Alexandrova ML, Bochev PG (2005) Oxidative stress during the chronic phase after stroke. Free Radic Biol Med 39:297-316.
- Allan SM, Rothwell NJ (2001) Cytokines and acute neurodegeneration. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:734-744.
- Andersson U, Wang H, Palmblad K, Aveberger AC, Bloom O, Erlandsson-Harris H, Janson A, Kokkola R, Zhang M, Yang H, Tracey KJ (2000) High mobility group 1 protein (HMG-1) stimulates proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in human monocytes. J Exp Med 192:565-570.
- Arancio O et al. (2004) RAGE potentiates Abeta-induced perturbation of neuronal function in transgenic mice. Embo J 23:4096-4105.
- Barnes PJ, Adcock IM (1998) Transcription factors and asthma. Eur Respir J 12:221-234.
- Barone FC, Feuerstein GZ (1999) Inflammatory mediators and stroke: new opportunities for novel therapeutics. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:819-834.
- Barone FC, Arvin B, White RF, Miller A, Webb CL, Willette RN, Lysko PG, Feuerstein GZ (1997) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha. A mediator of focal ischemic brain injury. Stroke 28:1233-1244.
- Barton BE (1997) IL-6: insights into novel biological activities. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 85:16-20.
- Baumann B, Wagner M, Aleksic T, von Wichert G, Weber CK, Adler G, Wirth T (2007) Constitutive IKK2 activation in acinar cells is sufficient to induce pancreatitis in vivo. J Clin Invest 117:1502-1513.
- Bazan NG (2005) Neuroprotectin D1 (NPD1): a DHA-derived mediator that protects brain and retina against cell injury-induced oxidative stress. Brain Pathol 15:159-166.
- Becker K, Kindrick D, Relton J, Harlan J, Winn R (2001) Antibody to the alpha4 integrin decreases infarct size in transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Stroke 32:206-211.
- Bergeron M, Yu AY, Solway KE, Semenza GL, Sharp FR (1999) Induction of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and its target genes following focal ischaemia in rat brain. Eur J Neurosci 11:4159-4170.
- Bevilacqua MP, Pober JS, Mendrick DL, Cotran RS, Gimbrone MA, Jr. (1987) Identification of an inducible endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:9238-9242.
- Bianchi ME, Manfredi A (2004) Chromatin and cell death. Biochim Biophys Acta 1677:181-186.
- Bianchi ME, Manfredi AA (2007) High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein at the crossroads between innate and adaptive immunity. Immunol Rev 220:35-46.
- Bierhaus A, Humpert PM, Morcos M, Wendt T, Chavakis T, Arnold B, Stern DM, Nawroth PP (2005) Understanding RAGE, the receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Mol Med.
- Bierhaus A et al. (2004) Loss of pain perception in diabetes is dependent on a receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily. J Clin Invest 114:1741-1751.

- Bilak M, Wu L, Wang Q, Haughey N, Conant K, St Hillaire C, Andreasson K (2004) PGE2 receptors rescue motor neurons in a model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol 56:240-248.
- Block ML, Zecca L, Hong JS (2007) Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:57-69.
- Bonaldi T, Talamo F, Scaffidi P, Ferrera D, Porto A, Bachi A, Rubartelli A, Agresti A, Bianchi ME (2003) Monocytic cells hyperacetylate chromatin protein HMGB1 to redirect it towards secretion. EMBO J 22:5551-5560.
- Bonizzi G, Karin M (2004) The two NF-kappaB activation pathways and their role in innate and adaptive immunity. Trends Immunol 25:280-288.
- Bonventre JV, Huang Z, Taheri MR, O'Leary E, Li E, Moskowitz MA, Sapirstein A (1997) Reduced fertility and postischaemic brain injury in mice deficient in cytosolic phospholipase A2. Nature 390:622-625.
- Botchkina GI, Geimonen E, Bilof ML, Villarreal O, Tracey KJ (1999) Loss of NF-kappaB activity during cerebral ischemia and TNF cytotoxicity. Mol Med 5:372-381.
- Boutin H, LeFeuvre RA, Horai R, Asano M, Iwakura Y, Rothwell NJ (2001) Role of IL-1alpha and IL-1beta in ischemic brain damage. J Neurosci 21:5528-5534.
- Bradley MN, Zhou L, Smale ST (2003) C/EBPbeta regulation in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. Mol Cell Biol 23:4841-4858.
- Bruce AJ, Boling W, Kindy MS, Peschon J, Kraemer PJ, Carpenter MK, Holtsberg FW, Mattson MP (1996) Altered neuronal and microglial responses to excitotoxic and ischemic brain injury in mice lacking TNF receptors. Nat Med 2:788-794.
- Bucciarelli LG, Ananthakrishnan R, Hwang YC, Kaneko M, Song F, Sell DR, Strauch C, Monnier VM, Yan SF, Schmidt AM, Ramasamy R (2008) RAGE and modulation of ischemic injury in the diabetic myocardium. Diabetes 57:1941-1951.
- Bustin M (1999) Regulation of DNA-dependent activities by the functional motifs of the highmobility-group chromosomal proteins. Mol Cell Biol 19:5237-5246.
- Bustin M (2001) Revised nomenclature for high mobility group (HMG) chromosomal proteins. Trends Biochem Sci 26:152-153.
- Candelario-Jalil E, Fiebich BL (2008) Cyclooxygenase inhibition in ischemic brain injury. Curr Pharm Des 14:1401-1418.
- Candelario-Jalil E, Gonzalez-Falcon A, Garcia-Cabrera M, Alvarez D, Al-Dalain S, Martinez G, Leon OS, Springer JE (2003) Assessment of the relative contribution of COX-1 and COX-2 isoforms to ischemia-induced oxidative damage and neurodegeneration following transient global cerebral ischemia. J Neurochem 86:545-555.
- Cardenas A, Moro MA, Hurtado O, Leza JC, Lorenzo P, Castrillo A, Bodelon OG, Bosca L, Lizasoain I (2000) Implication of glutamate in the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase after oxygen and glucose deprivation in rat forebrain slices. J Neurochem 74:2041-2048.
- Cervera A, Justicia C, Reverter JC, Planas AM, Chamorro A (2004) Steady plasma concentration of unfractionated heparin reduces infarct volume and prevents inflammatory damage after transient focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. J Neurosci Res 77:565-572.
- Chamorro A, Hallenbeck J (2006) The harms and benefits of inflammatory and immune responses in vascular disease. Stroke 37:291-293.
- Chang YC, Yang SF, Huang FM, Liu CM, Tai KW, Hsieh YS (2003) Proinflammatory cytokines induce cyclooxygenase-2 mRNA and protein expression in human pulp cell cultures. J Endod 29:201-204.
- Chen H, Chopp M, Zhang RL, Bodzin G, Chen Q, Rusche JR, Todd RF, 3rd (1994) Anti-CD11b monoclonal antibody reduces ischemic cell damage after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rat. Ann Neurol 35:458-463.

- Chen Y, Hallenbeck JM, Ruetzler C, Bol D, Thomas K, Berman NE, Vogel SN (2003) Overexpression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in the brain exacerbates ischemic brain injury and is associated with recruitment of inflammatory cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23:748-755.
- Cho S, Park EM, Kim Y, Liu N, Gal J, Volpe BT, Joh TH (2001) Early c-Fos induction after cerebral ischemia: a possible neuroprotective role. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21:550-556.
- Choi HC, Kim HS, Lee KY, Chang KC, Kang YJ (2008) NS-398, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, inhibits proliferation of IL-1beta-stimulated vascular smooth muscle cells by induction of EtaOmicron-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun.
- Ciceri P, Zhang Y, Shaffer AF, Leahy KM, Woerner MB, Smith WG, Seibert K, Isakson PC (2002) Pharmacology of celecoxib in rat brain after kainate administration. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 302:846-852.
- Danton GH, Dietrich WD (2003) Inflammatory mechanisms after ischemia and stroke. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62:127-136.
- de Oliveira AC, Candelario-Jalil E, Bhatia HS, Lieb K, Hull M, Fiebich BL (2008) Regulation of prostaglandin E2 synthase expression in activated primary rat microglia: evidence for uncoupled regulation of mPGES-1 and COX-2. Glia 56:844-855.
- Deane R et al. (2003) RAGE mediates amyloid-beta peptide transport across the blood-brain barrier and accumulation in brain. Nat Med 9:907-913.
- Degryse B, Bonaldi T, Scaffidi P, Muller S, Resnati M, Sanvito F, Arrigoni G, Bianchi ME (2001) The High Mobility Group (HMG) Boxes of the Nuclear Protein HMG1 Induce Chemotaxis and Cytoskeleton Reorganization in Rat Smooth Muscle Cells. J Cell Biol 152:1197-1206.
- del Zoppo G, Ginis I, Hallenbeck JM, Iadecola C, Wang X, Feuerstein GZ (2000) Inflammation and stroke: putative role for cytokines, adhesion molecules and iNOS in brain response to ischemia. Brain Pathol 10:95-112.
- Devchand PR, Keller H, Peters JM, Vazquez M, Gonzalez FJ, Wahli W (1996) The PPARalphaleukotriene B4 pathway to inflammation control. Nature 384:39-43.
- Ditsworth D, Zong WX, Thompson CB (2007) Activation of poly(ADP)-ribose polymerase (PARP-1) induces release of the pro-inflammatory mediator HMGB1 from the nucleus. J Biol Chem 282:17845-17854.
- Dory L (1989) Synthesis and secretion of apoE in thioglycolate-elicited mouse peritoneal macrophages: effect of cholesterol efflux. J Lipid Res 30:809-816.
- Dragunow M, Beilharz E, Sirimanne E, Lawlor P, Williams C, Bravo R, Gluckman P (1994) Immediateearly gene protein expression in neurons undergoing delayed death, but not necrosis, following hypoxic-ischaemic injury to the young rat brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 25:19-33.
- Dumitriu IE, Baruah P, Manfredi AA, Bianchi ME, Rovere-Querini P (2005) HMGB1: guiding immunity from within. Trends Immunol 26:381-387.
- Dunn SL, Young EA, Hall MD, McNulty S (2002) Activation of astrocyte intracellular signaling pathways by interleukin-1 in rat primary striatal cultures. Glia 37:31-42.
- Dustin ML, Rothlein R, Bhan AK, Dinarello CA, Springer TA (1986) Induction by IL 1 and interferongamma: tissue distribution, biochemistry, and function of a natural adherence molecule (ICAM-1). J Immunol 137:245-254.
- Emsley HC, Tyrrell PJ (2002) Inflammation and infection in clinical stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 22:1399-1419.
- Emsley HC, Smith CJ, Georgiou RF, Vail A, Hopkins SJ, Rothwell NJ, Tyrrell PJ (2005) A randomised phase II study of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in acute stroke patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76:1366-1372.
- Eppihimer MJ, Wolitzky B, Anderson DC, Labow MA, Granger DN (1996) Heterogeneity of expression of E- and P-selectins in vivo. Circ Res 79:560-569.

- Esterbauer H, Schaur RJ, Zollner H (1991) Chemistry and biochemistry of 4-hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. Free Radic Biol Med 11:81-128.
- Farooqui AA, Horrocks LA (2006) Phospholipase A2-generated lipid mediators in the brain: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Neuroscientist 12:245-260.
- Farooqui AA, Horrocks LA, Farooqui T (2007) Modulation of inflammation in brain: a matter of fat. J Neurochem 101:577-599.
- Fink MP (2007) Bench-to-bedside review: High-mobility group box 1 and critical illness. Crit Care 11:229.
- Garau A, Bertini R, Colotta F, Casilli F, Bigini P, Cagnotto A, Mennini T, Ghezzi P, Villa P (2005) Neuroprotection with the CXCL8 inhibitor repertaxin in transient brain ischemia. Cytokine 30:125-131.
- Gardella S, Andrei C, Ferrera D, Lotti LV, Torrisi MR, Bianchi ME, Rubartelli A (2002) The nuclear protein HMGB1 is secreted by monocytes via a non-classical, vesicle-mediated secretory pathway. EMBO Rep 3:995-1001.
- Ghosh S, Karin M (2002) Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. Cell 109 Suppl:S81-96.
- Ghosh S, May MJ, Kopp EB (1998) NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 16:225-260.
- Gilgun-Sherki Y, Melamed E, Offen D (2006) Anti-inflammatory drugs in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases: current state. Curr Pharm Des 12:3509-3519.
- Glass CK, Ogawa S (2006) Combinatorial roles of nuclear receptors in inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 6:44-55.
- Goldstein RS, Gallowitsch-Puerta M, Yang L, Rosas-Ballina M, Huston JM, Czura CJ, Lee DC, Ward MF, Bruchfeld AN, Wang H, Lesser ML, Church AL, Litroff AH, Sama AE, Tracey KJ (2006) Elevated high-mobility group box 1 levels in patients with cerebral and myocardial ischemia. Shock 25:571-574.
- Gosset P, Charbonnier AS, Delerive P, Fontaine J, Staels B, Pestel J, Tonnel AB, Trottein F (2001) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma activators affect the maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol 31:2857-2865.
- Green AR (2008) Pharmacological approaches to acute ischaemic stroke: reperfusion certainly, neuroprotection possibly. Br J Pharmacol 153 Suppl 1:S325-338.
- Hallenbeck JM (1996) Significance of the inflammatory response in brain ischemia. Acta Neurochir Suppl 66:27-31.
- Haqqani AS, Nesic M, Preston E, Baumann E, Kelly J, Stanimirovic D (2005) Characterization of vascular protein expression patterns in cerebral ischemia/reperfusion using laser capture microdissection and ICAT-nanoLC-MS/MS. FASEB J 19:1809-1821.
- Harmon D, Lan W, Shorten G (2004) The effect of aprotinin on hypoxia-reoxygenation-induced changes in neutrophil and endothelial function. Eur J Anaesthesiol 21:973-979.
- He F, Wu LX, Liu FY, Yang LJ, Zhang Y, Zhang HF, Zhou X, Huang BS, Deng XL (2008) [Protection of hepatocyte growth factor on neurons subjected to oxygen-glucose deprivation/reperfusion.]. Sheng Li Xue Bao 60:235-242.
- Heo JH, Lucero J, Abumiya T, Koziol JA, Copeland BR, del Zoppo GJ (1999) Matrix metalloproteinases increase very early during experimental focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:624-633.
- Hernandez M, Bayon Y, Sanchez Crespo M, Nieto ML (1999) Signaling mechanisms involved in the activation of arachidonic acid metabolism in human astrocytoma cells by tumor necrosis factor-alpha: phosphorylation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 and transactivation of cyclooxygenase-2. J Neurochem 73:1641-1649.

- Herrmann O, Baumann B, De Lorenzi R, Muhammad S, Zhang W, Kleesiek J, Malfertheiner M,
 Köhrmann M, Potrovita I, Maegele I, Beyer C, Burke JR, Hasan MT, Bujard H, Wirth T,
 Pasparakis M, Schwaninger M (2005) IKK mediates ischemia-induced neuronal cell death.
 Nat Med 11:1322-1329.
- Hirashima Y, Farooqui AA, Mills JS, Horrocks LA (1992) Identification and purification of calciumindependent phospholipase A2 from bovine brain cytosol. J Neurochem 59:708-714.
- Hong S, Gronert K, Devchand PR, Moussignac RL, Serhan CN (2003) Novel docosatrienes and 17Sresolvins generated from docosahexaenoic acid in murine brain, human blood, and glial cells. Autacoids in anti-inflammation. J Biol Chem 278:14677-14687.
- Hu BR, Liu CL, Park DJ (2000) Alteration of MAP kinase pathways after transient forebrain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 20:1089-1095.
- Huang J, Upadhyay UM, Tamargo RJ (2006) Inflammation in stroke and focal cerebral ischemia. Surg Neurol 66:232-245.
- Hughes-Fulford M, Li CF, Boonyaratanakornkit J, Sayyah S (2006) Arachidonic acid activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling and induces gene expression in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 66:1427-1433.
- Hurley SD, Olschowka JA, O'Banion MK (2002) Cyclooxygenase inhibition as a strategy to ameliorate brain injury. J Neurotrauma 19:1-15.
- Iadecola C, Zhang F, Xu S, Casey R, Ross ME (1995) Inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression in brain following cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 15:378-384.
- Iadecola C, Sugimoto K, Niwa K, Kazama K, Ross ME (2001) Increased susceptibility to ischemic brain injury in cyclooxygenase-1-deficient mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21:1436-1441.
- Iadecola C, Salkowski CA, Zhang F, Aber T, Nagayama M, Vogel SN, Ross ME (1999) The transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 1 is expressed after cerebral ischemia and contributes to ischemic brain injury. J Exp Med 189:719-727.
- Iademarco MF, Barks JL, Dean DC (1995) Regulation of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression by IL-4 and TNF-alpha in cultured endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 95:264-271.
- Ikeda-Matsuo Y, Ota A, Fukada T, Uematsu S, Akira S, Sasaki Y (2006) Microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 is a critical factor of stroke-reperfusion injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:11790-11795.
- Johansson IM, Wester P, Hakova M, Gu W, Seckl JR, Olsson T (2000) Early and delayed induction of immediate early gene expression in a novel focal cerebral ischemia model in the rat. Eur J Neurosci 12:3615-3625.
- Jones DC, Manning BM, Daynes RA (2002) A role for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha in T-cell physiology and ageing immunobiology. Proc Nutr Soc 61:363-369.
- Juttler E, Kohrmann M, Schellinger PD (2006) Therapy for early reperfusion after stroke. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 3:656-663.
- Kaltschmidt B, Linker RA, Deng J, Kaltschmidt C (2002) Cyclooxygenase-2 is a neuronal target gene of NF-kappaB. BMC Mol Biol 3:16.
- Kanemoto Y, Nakase H, Akita N, Sakaki T (2002) Effects of anti-intercellular adhesion molecule-1 antibody on reperfusion injury induced by late reperfusion in the rat middle cerebral artery occlusion model. Neurosurgery 51:1034-1041; discussion 1041-1032.
- Kapadia R, Tureyen K, Bowen KK, Kalluri H, Johnson PF, Vemuganti R (2006) Decreased brain damage and curtailed inflammation in transcription factor CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta knockout mice following transient focal cerebral ischemia. J Neurochem 98:1718-1731.
- Karin M, Greten FR (2005) NF-kappaB: linking inflammation and immunity to cancer development and progression. Nat Rev Immunol 5:749-759.

- Katsuki H, Okuda S (1995) Arachidonic acid as a neurotoxic and neurotrophic substance. Prog Neurobiol 46:607-636.
- Kawano T, Anrather J, Zhou P, Park L, Wang G, Frys KA, Kunz A, Cho S, Orio M, Iadecola C (2006) Prostaglandin E2 EP1 receptors: downstream effectors of COX-2 neurotoxicity. Nat Med 12:225-229.
- Khan M, Jatana M, Elango C, Paintlia AS, Singh AK, Singh I (2006) Cerebrovascular protection by various nitric oxide donors in rats after experimental stroke. Nitric Oxide 15:114-124.
- Kilic U, Kilic E, Matter CM, Bassetti CL, Hermann DM (2008) TLR-4 deficiency protects against focal cerebral ischemia and axotomy-induced neurodegeneration. Neurobiol Dis 31:33-40.
- Kim EJ, Kwon KJ, Park JY, Lee SH, Moon CH, Baik EJ (2002) Neuroprotective effects of prostaglandin E2 or cAMP against microglial and neuronal free radical mediated toxicity associated with inflammation. J Neurosci Res 70:97-107.
- Kim JB, Lim CM, Yu YM, Lee JK (2008) Induction and subcellular localization of high-mobility group box-1 (HMGB1) in the postischemic rat brain. J Neurosci Res 86:1125-1131.
- Kim JB, Sig Choi J, Yu YM, Nam K, Piao CS, Kim SW, Lee MH, Han PL, Park JS, Lee JK (2006) HMGB1, a novel cytokine-like mediator linking acute neuronal death and delayed neuroinflammation in the postischemic brain. J Neurosci 26:6413-6421.
- Kim JS, Gautam SC, Chopp M, Zaloga C, Jones ML, Ward PA, Welch KM (1995) Expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. J Neuroimmunol 56:127-134.
- Kis B, Snipes JA, Gaspar T, Lenzser G, Tulbert CD, Busija DW (2006) Cloning of cyclooxygenase-1b (putative COX-3) in mouse. Inflamm Res 55:274-278.
- Klune JR, Dhupar R, Cardinal J, Billiar TR, Tsung A (2008) HMGB1: endogenous danger signaling. Mol Med 14:476-484.
- Knapp S, Muller S, Digilio G, Bonaldi T, Bianchi ME, Musco G (2004) The long acidic tail of high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein forms an extended and flexible structure that interacts with specific residues within and between the HMG boxes. Biochemistry 43:11992-11997.
- Kogel D, Peters M, Konig HG, Hashemi SM, Bui NT, Arolt V, Rothermundt M, Prehn JH (2004) S100B potently activates p65/c-Rel transcriptional complexes in hippocampal neurons: Clinical implications for the role of S100B in excitotoxic brain injury. Neuroscience 127:913-920.
- Koistinaho M, Koistinaho J (2005) Interactions between Alzheimer's disease and cerebral ischemia-focus on inflammation. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 48:240-250.
- Kronke M, Adam-Klages S (2002) Role of caspases in TNF-mediated regulation of cPLA(2). FEBS Lett 531:18-22.
- Lang JT, McCullough LD (2008) Pathways to ischemic neuronal cell death: are sex differences relevant? J Transl Med 6:33.
- Lappas M, Permezel M, Georgiou HM, Rice GE (2004) Regulation of phospholipase isozymes by nuclear factor-kappaB in human gestational tissues in vitro. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:2365-2372.
- Lavine SD, Hofman FM, Zlokovic BV (1998) Circulating antibody against tumor necrosis factor-alpha protects rat brain from reperfusion injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:52-58.
- Li GZ, Zhong D, Yang LM, Sun B, Zhong ZH, Yin YH, Cheng J, Yan BB, Li HL (2005) Expression of interleukin-17 in ischemic brain tissue. Scand J Immunol 62:481-486.
- Li J, Kokkola R, Tabibzadeh S, Yang R, Ochani M, Qiang X, Harris HE, Czura CJ, Wang H, Ulloa L, Warren HS, Moldawer LL, Fink MP, Andersson U, Tracey KJ, Yang H (2003) Structural basis for the proinflammatory cytokine activity of high mobility group box 1. Mol Med 9:37-45.

Li RC, Row BW, Gozal E, Kheirandish L, Fan Q, Brittian KR, Guo SZ, Sachleben LR, Jr., Gozal D (2003) Cyclooxygenase 2 and intermittent hypoxia-induced spatial deficits in the rat. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168:469-475.

Lipton P (1999) Ischemic cell death in brain neurons. Physiol Rev 79:1431-1568.

- Liu B, Hong JS (2003) Role of microglia in inflammation-mediated neurodegenerative diseases: mechanisms and strategies for therapeutic intervention. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 304:1-7.
- Liu T, Clark RK, McDonnell PC, Young PR, White RF, Barone FC, Feuerstein GZ (1994) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression in ischemic neurons. Stroke 25:1481-1488.
- Lotze MT, Tracey KJ (2005) High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. Nat Rev Immunol 5:331-342.
- Lu A, Tang Y, Ran R, Clark JF, Aronow BJ, Sharp FR (2003) Genomics of the periinfarction cortex after focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23:786-810.
- Maeda K, Hata R, Gillardon F, Hossmann KA (2001) Aggravation of brain injury after transient focal ischemia in p53-deficient mice. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 88:54-61.
- Maestre-Moreno JF, Fernandez-Perez MD, Arnaiz-Urrutia C, Minguez A, Navarrete-Navarro P, Martinez-Bosch J (2005) [Thrombolysis in stroke: inappropriate consideration of the 'window period' as the time available]. Rev Neurol 40:274-278.
- Manabe Y, Anrather J, Kawano T, Niwa K, Zhou P, Ross ME, Iadecola C (2004) Prostanoids, not reactive oxygen species, mediate COX-2-dependent neurotoxicity. Ann Neurol 55:668-675.
- Marsche G, Weigle B, Sattler W, Malle E (2007) Soluble RAGE blocks scavenger receptor CD36mediated uptake of hypochlorite-modified low-density lipoprotein. FASEB J 21:3075-3082.
- Martin-Villalba A, Hahne M, Kleber S, Vogel J, Falk W, Schenkel J, Krammer PH (2001) Therapeutic neutralization of CD95-ligand and TNF attenuates brain damage in stroke. Cell Death Differ 8:679-686.
- McCullough L, Wu L, Haughey N, Liang X, Hand T, Wang Q, Breyer RM, Andreasson K (2004) Neuroprotective function of the PGE2 EP2 receptor in cerebral ischemia. J Neurosci 24:257-268.
- Mocco J, Choudhri T, Huang J, Harfeldt E, Efros L, Klingbeil C, Vexler V, Hall W, Zhang Y, Mack W, Popilskis S, Pinsky DJ, Connolly ES, Jr. (2002) HuEP5C7 as a humanized monoclonal anti-E/Pselectin neurovascular protective strategy in a blinded placebo-controlled trial of nonhuman primate stroke. Circ Res 91:907-914.
- Muhammad S, Barakat W, Stoyanov S, Murikinati S, Yang H, Tracey KJ, Bendszus M, Rossetti G, Nawroth PP, Bierhaus A, Schwaninger M (2008) The HMGB1 Receptor RAGE Mediates Ischemic Brain Damage. J Neurosci 28:12023-12031.
- Mukaida N, Morita M, Ishikawa Y, Rice N, Okamoto S, Kasahara T, Matsushima K (1994) Novel mechanism of glucocorticoid-mediated gene repression. Nuclear factor-kappa B is target for glucocorticoid-mediated interleukin 8 gene repression. J Biol Chem 269:13289-13295.
- Muller S, Ronfani L, Bianchi ME (2004) Regulated expression and subcellular localization of HMGB1, a chromatin protein with a cytokine function. J Intern Med 255:332-343.
- Murakami M, Naraba H, Tanioka T, Semmyo N, Nakatani Y, Kojima F, Ikeda T, Fueki M, Ueno A, Oh S, Kudo I (2000) Regulation of prostaglandin E2 biosynthesis by inducible membraneassociated prostaglandin E2 synthase that acts in concert with cyclooxygenase-2. J Biol Chem 275:32783-32792.
- Nakayama M, Uchimura K, Zhu RL, Nagayama T, Rose ME, Stetler RA, Isakson PC, Chen J, Graham SH (1998) Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition prevents delayed death of CA1 hippocampal neurons following global ischemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:10954-10959.

- Naraba H, Yokoyama C, Tago N, Murakami M, Kudo I, Fueki M, Oh-Ishi S, Tanabe T (2002) Transcriptional regulation of the membrane-associated prostaglandin E2 synthase gene. Essential role of the transcription factor Egr-1. J Biol Chem 277:28601-28608.
- Nelson PJ, Kim HT, Manning WC, Goralski TJ, Krensky AM (1993) Genomic organization and transcriptional regulation of the RANTES chemokine gene. J Immunol 151:2601-2612.
- Nito C, Kamada H, Endo H, Niizuma K, Myer DJ, Chan PH (2008) Role of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase/cytosolic phospholipase A2 signaling pathway in blood-brain barrier disruption after focal cerebral ischemia and reperfusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28:1686-1696.
- Nogawa S, Zhang F, Ross ME, Iadecola C (1997) Cyclo-oxygenase-2 gene expression in neurons contributes to ischemic brain damage. J Neurosci 17:2746-2755.
- Nurmi A, Lindsberg PJ, Koistinaho M, Zhang W, Juettler E, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Weih F, Frank N, Schwaninger M, Koistinaho J (2004) Nuclear factor-kappaB contributes to infarction after permanent focal ischemia. Stroke 35:987-991.
- Orlova VV, Choi EY, Xie C, Chavakis E, Bierhaus A, Ihanus E, Ballantyne CM, Gahmberg CG, Bianchi ME, Nawroth PP, Chavakis T (2007) A novel pathway of HMGB1-mediated inflammatory cell recruitment that requires Mac-1-integrin. Embo J.
- Pang L, Ye W, Che XM, Roessler BJ, Betz AL, Yang GY (2001) Reduction of inflammatory response in the mouse brain with adenoviral-mediated transforming growth factor-ss1 expression. Stroke 32:544-552.
- Park JS, Svetkauskaite D, He Q, Kim J-Y, Strassheim D, Ishizaka A, Abraham E (2004) Involvement of Toll-like Receptors 2 and 4 in Cellular Activation by High Mobility Group Box 1 Protein. J Biol Chem 279:7370-7377.
- Park JS, Arcaroli J, Yum HK, Yang H, Wang H, Yang KY, Choe KH, Strassheim D, Pitts TM, Tracey KJ, Abraham E (2003) Activation of gene expression in human neutrophils by high mobility group box 1 protein. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 284:C870-879.
- Park JS, Gamboni-Robertson F, He Q, Svetkauskaite D, Kim J-Y, Strassheim D, Sohn J-W, Yamada S, Maruyama I, Banerjee A, Ishizaka A, Abraham E (2006) High mobility group box 1 protein interacts with multiple Toll-like receptors. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290:C917-924.
- Parkkinen J, Raulo E, Merenmies J, Nolo R, Kajander EO, Baumann M, Rauvala H (1993) Amphoterin, the 30-kDa protein in a family of HMG1-type polypeptides. Enhanced expression in transformed cells, leading edge localization, and interactions with plasminogen activation. J Biol Chem 268:19726-19738.
- Perkins ND (2000) The Rel/NF-kappa B family: friend and foe. Trends Biochem Sci 25:434-440.
- Petito CK, Feldmann E, Pulsinelli WA, Plum F (1987) Delayed hippocampal damage in humans following cardiorespiratory arrest. Neurology 37:1281-1286.
- Pfefferkorn T, Rosenberg GA (2003) Closure of the blood-brain barrier by matrix metalloproteinase inhibition reduces rtPA-mediated mortality in cerebral ischemia with delayed reperfusion. Stroke 34:2025-2030.
- Phair RD, Scaffidi P, Elbi C, Vecerova J, Dey A, Ozato K, Brown DT, Hager G, Bustin M, Misteli T (2004) Global nature of dynamic protein-chromatin interactions in vivo: three-dimensional genome scanning and dynamic interaction networks of chromatin proteins. Mol Cell Biol 24:6393-6402.
- Phillis JW, Horrocks LA, Farooqui AA (2006) Cyclooxygenases, lipoxygenases, and epoxygenases in CNS: their role and involvement in neurological disorders. Brain Res Rev 52:201-243.
- Pichiule P, Chavez JC, Schmidt AM, Vannucci SJ (2007) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 mediates neuronal expression of the receptor for advanced glycation end products following hypoxia/ischemia. J Biol Chem 282:36330-36340.

- Pinteaux E, Rothwell NJ, Boutin H (2006) Neuroprotective actions of endogenous interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) are mediated by glia. Glia 53:551-556.
- Planas AM, Soriano MA, Berruezo M, Justicia C, Estrada A, Pitarch S, Ferrer I (1996) Induction of Stat3, a signal transducer and transcription factor, in reactive microglia following transient focal cerebral ischaemia. Eur J Neurosci 8:2612-2618.
- Qiu J, Nishimura M, Wang Y, Sims JR, Qiu S, Savitz SI, Salomone S, Moskowitz MA (2008) Early release of HMGB-1 from neurons after the onset of brain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28:927-938.

Raghavendra Rao VL, Bowen KK, Dhodda VK, Song G, Franklin JL, Gavva NR, Dempsey RJ (2002) Gene expression analysis of spontaneously hypertensive rat cerebral cortex following transient focal cerebral ischemia. J Neurochem 83:1072-1086.

Rapoport SI (1999) In vivo fatty acid incorporation into brain phospholipids in relation to signal transduction and membrane remodeling. Neurochem Res 24:1403-1415.

- Roberts LJ, 2nd, Fessel JP, Davies SS (2005) The biochemistry of the isoprostane, neuroprostane, and isofuran Pathways of lipid peroxidation. Brain Pathol 15:143-148.
- Rock KL, Hearn A, Chen CJ, Shi Y (2005) Natural endogenous adjuvants. Springer Semin Immunopathol 26:231-246.
- Rothwell NJ (1999) Annual review prize lecture cytokines killers in the brain? J Physiol 514 (Pt 1):3-17.
- Rothwell NJ, Luheshi GN (1996) Brain TNF: damage limitation or damaged reputation? Nat Med 2:746-747.
- Sairanen T, Carpen O, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Paetau A, Turpeinen U, Kaste M, Lindsberg PJ (2001) Evolution of cerebral tumor necrosis factor-alpha production during human ischemic stroke. Stroke 32:1750-1758.
- Samson Y, Lapergue B, Hosseini H (2005) [Inflammation and ischaemic stroke: current status and future perspectives]. Rev Neurol (Paris) 161:1177-1182.
- Sasaki T, Kitagawa K, Yamagata K, Takemiya T, Tanaka S, Omura-Matsuoka E, Sugiura S, Matsumoto M, Hori M (2004) Amelioration of hippocampal neuronal damage after transient forebrain ischemia in cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 24:107-113.Saver JL (2006) Time is brain--quantified. Stroke 37:263-266.
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME (2002) Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature 418:191-195.

Schmidt AM, Yan SD, Yan SF, Stern DM (2001) The multiligand receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying immune and inflammatory responses. J Clin Invest 108:949-955.

Schmitz ML, Baeuerle PA (1991) The p65 subunit is responsible for the strong transcription activating potential of NF-kappa B. EMBO J 10:3805-3817.

Schneider A, Martin-Villalba A, Weih F, Vogel J, Wirth T, Schwaninger M (1999) NF-kappaB is activated and promotes cell death in focal cerebral ischemia. Nat Med 5:554-559.

- Schwab JM, Beschorner R, Meyermann R, Gozalan F, Schluesener HJ (2002) Persistent accumulation of cyclooxygenase-1-expressing microglial cells and macrophages and transient upregulation by endothelium in human brain injury. J Neurosurg 96:892-899.
- Schwaninger M, Inta I, Herrmann O (2006) NF-kappaB signalling in cerebral ischaemia. Biochem Soc Trans 34:1291-1294.
- Scott JF, Robinson GM, French JM, O'Connell JE, Alberti KG, Gray CS (1999) Prevalence of admission hyperglycaemia across clinical subtypes of acute stroke. Lancet 353:376-377.
- Seegers H, Grillon E, Trioullier Y, Vath A, Verna JM, Blum D (2000) Nuclear factor-kappa B activation in permanent intraluminal focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. Neurosci Lett 288:241-245.

- Setoguchi K, Misaki Y, Terauchi Y, Yamauchi T, Kawahata K, Kadowaki T, Yamamoto K (2001) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma haploinsufficiency enhances B cell proliferative responses and exacerbates experimentally induced arthritis. J Clin Invest 108:1667-1675.
- Shen W, Zhang C, Zhang G (2002) Nuclear factor kappaB activation is mediated by NMDA and non-NMDA receptor and L-type voltage-gated Ca(2+) channel following severe global ischemia in rat hippocampus. Brain Res 933:23-30.
- Shen Y, Li R, Shiosaki K (1997) Inhibition of p75 tumor necrosis factor receptor by antisense oligonucleotides increases hypoxic injury and beta-amyloid toxicity in human neuronal cell line. J Biol Chem 272:3550-3553.
- Siebenlist U, Franzoso G, Brown K (1994) Structure, regulation and function of NF-kappa B. Annu Rev Cell Biol 10:405-455.
- Soriano MA, Tessier M, Certa U, Gill R (2000) Parallel gene expression monitoring using oligonucleotide probe arrays of multiple transcripts with an animal model of focal ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 20:1045-1055.
- Spera PA, Ellison JA, Feuerstein GZ, Barone FC (1998) IL-10 reduces rat brain injury following focal stroke. Neurosci Lett 251:189-192.
- Stella N, Estelles A, Siciliano J, Tence M, Desagher S, Piomelli D, Glowinski J, Premont J (1997) Interleukin-1 enhances the ATP-evoked release of arachidonic acid from mouse astrocytes. J Neurosci 17:2939-2946.
- Stephenson D, Yin T, Smalstig EB, Hsu MA, Panetta J, Little S, Clemens J (2000) Transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B is activated in neurons after focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 20:592-603.
- Stephenson DT, Manetta JV, White DL, Chiou XG, Cox L, Gitter B, May PC, Sharp JD, Kramer RM, Clemens JA (1994) Calcium-sensitive cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2) is expressed in human brain astrocytes. Brain Res 637:97-105.
- Stevens SL, Bao J, Hollis J, Lessov NS, Clark WM, Stenzel-Poore MP (2002) The use of flow cytometry to evaluate temporal changes in inflammatory cells following focal cerebral ischemia in mice. Brain Res 932:110-119.
- Stoll G, Jander S, Schroeter M (1998) Inflammation and glial responses in ischemic brain lesions. Prog Neurobiol 56:149-171.
- Stoneman V, Braganza D, Figg N, Mercer J, Lang R, Goddard M, Bennett M (2007) Monocyte/macrophage suppression in CD11b diphtheria toxin receptor transgenic mice differentially affects atherogenesis and established plaques. Circ Res 100:884-893.
- Strle K, Zhou JH, Shen WH, Broussard SR, Johnson RW, Freund GG, Dantzer R, Kelley KW (2001) Interleukin-10 in the brain. Crit Rev Immunol 21:427-449.
- Subbaramaiah K, Yoshimatsu K, Scherl E, Das KM, Glazier KD, Golijanin D, Soslow RA, Tanabe T, Naraba H, Dannenberg AJ (2004) Microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 is overexpressed in inflammatory bowel disease. Evidence for involvement of the transcription factor Egr-1. J Biol Chem 279:12647-12658.
- Taguchi A, Blood DC, del Toro G, Canet A, Lee DC, Qu W, Tanji N, Lu Y, Lalla E, Fu C, Hofmann MA, Kislinger T, Ingram M, Lu A, Tanaka H, Hori O, Ogawa S, Stern DM, Schmidt AM (2000)
 Blockade of RAGE-amphoterin signalling suppresses tumour growth and metastases.
 Nature 405:354-360.
- Takemiya T, Matsumura K, Yamagata K (2007) Roles of prostaglandin synthesis in excitotoxic brain diseases. Neurochem Int 51:112-120.
- Tanaka K, Nogawa S, Ito D, Suzuki S, Dembo T, Kosakai A, Fukuuchi Y (2000a) Activated phosphorylation of cyclic AMP response element binding protein is associated with

preservation of striatal neurons after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. Neuroscience 100:345-354.

- Tanaka K, Nogawa S, Nagata E, Ito D, Suzuki S, Dembo T, Kosakai A, Fukuuchi Y (2000b) Persistent CREB phosphorylation with protection of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons following temporary occlusion of the middle cerebral artery in the rat. Exp Neurol 161:462-471.
- Tanaka R, Komine-Kobayashi M, Mochizuki H, Yamada M, Furuya T, Migita M, Shimada T, Mizuno Y, Urabe T (2003) Migration of enhanced green fluorescent protein expressing bone marrowderived microglia/macrophage into the mouse brain following permanent focal ischemia. Neuroscience 117:531-539.
- Tang SC, Arumugam TV, Xu X, Cheng A, Mughal MR, Jo DG, Lathia JD, Siler DA, Chigurupati S, Ouyang X, Magnus T, Camandola S, Mattson MP (2007) Pivotal role for neuronal Toll-like receptors in ischemic brain injury and functional deficits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:13798-13803.
- Tanikawa N, Ohmiya Y, Ohkubo H, Hashimoto K, Kangawa K, Kojima M, Ito S, Watanabe K (2002) Identification and characterization of a novel type of membrane-associated prostaglandin E synthase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 291:884-889.
- Tassoni D, Kaur G, Weisinger RS, Sinclair AJ (2008) The role of eicosanoids in the brain. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 17 Suppl 1:220-228.
- Thornhill J, Smith M (1998) Intracerebroventricular prostaglandin administration increases the neural damage evoked by global hemispheric hypoxic ischemia. Brain Res 784:48-56.
- Tian J et al. (2007) Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. Nat Immunol 8:487-496.
- Tureyen K, Kapadia R, Bowen KK, Satriotomo I, Liang J, Feinstein DL, Vemuganti R (2007) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonists induce neuroprotection following transient focal ischemia in normotensive, normoglycemic as well as hypertensive and type-2 diabetic rodents. J Neurochem 101:41-56.
- Turrin NP, Rivest S (2004) Innate immune reaction in response to seizures: implications for the neuropathology associated with epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 16:321-334.
- Ueda A, Okuda K, Ohno S, Shirai A, Igarashi T, Matsunaga K, Fukushima J, Kawamoto S, Ishigatsubo Y, Okubo T (1994) NF-kappa B and Sp1 regulate transcription of the human monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 gene. J Immunol 153:2052-2063.
- van de Stolpe A, Caldenhoven E, Stade BG, Koenderman L, Raaijmakers JA, Johnson JP, van der Saag PT (1994) 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate- and tumor necrosis factor alphamediated induction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 is inhibited by dexamethasone. Functional analysis of the human intercellular adhesion molecular-1 promoter. J Biol Chem 269:6185-6192.
- van Rooijen N, van Kesteren-Hendrikx E (2002) Clodronate liposomes: perspectives in research and therapeutics. J Liposome Res 12:81-94.
- Vemuganti R, Dempsey RJ, Bowen KK (2004) Inhibition of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 protein expression by antisense oligonucleotides is neuroprotective after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in rat. Stroke 35:179-184.
- Vincent AM, Perrone L, Sullivan KA, Backus C, Sastry AM, Lastoskie C, Feldman EL (2006) RAGE Activation Injures Primary Sensory Neurons via Oxidative Stress. Endocrinology en.2006-0073.
- Wang CX, Shuaib A (2002) Involvement of inflammatory cytokines in central nervous system injury. Prog Neurobiol 67:161-172.
- Wang H, Bloom O, Zhang M, Vishnubhakat JM, Ombrellino M, Che J, Frazier A, Yang H, Ivanova S, Borovikova L, Manogue KR, Faist E, Abraham E, Andersson J, Andersson U, Molina PE,

Abumrad NN, Sama A, Tracey KJ (1999) HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. Science 285:248-251.

- Wang Q, Tang XN, Yenari MA (2007) The inflammatory response in stroke. J Neuroimmunol 184:53-68.
- Wang X, Yue TL, Barone FC, Feuerstein GZ (1995) Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 messenger RNA expression in rat ischemic cortex. Stroke 26:661-665; discussion 665-666.
- Wang X, Yue TL, Barone FC, White RF, Gagnon RC, Feuerstein GZ (1994) Concomitant cortical expression of TNF-alpha and IL-1 beta mRNAs follows early response gene expression in transient focal ischemia. Mol Chem Neuropathol 23:103-114.
- Weir HM, Kraulis PJ, Hill CS, Raine AR, Laue ED, Thomas JO (1993) Structure of the HMG box motif in the B-domain of HMG1. EMBO J 12:1311-1319.
- Wilde GJ, Pringle AK, Sundstrom LE, Mann DA, Iannotti F (2000) Attenuation and augmentation of ischaemia-related neuronal death by tumour necrosis factor-alpha in vitro. Eur J Neurosci 12:3863-3870.
- Williams AJ, Hale SL, Moffett JR, Dave JR, Elliott PJ, Adams J, Tortella FC (2003) Delayed treatment with MLN519 reduces infarction and associated neurologic deficit caused by focal ischemic brain injury in rats via antiinflammatory mechanisms involving nuclear factor-kappaB activation, gliosis, and leukocyte infiltration. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 23:75-87.
- Woodburn VL, Hayward NJ, Poat JA, Woodruff GN, Hughes J (1993) The effect of dizocilpine and enadoline on immediate early gene expression in the gerbil global ischaemia model. Neuropharmacology 32:1047-1059.
- Xiang Z, Chen M, Ping J, Dunn P, Lv J, Jiao B, Burnstock G (2006) Microglial morphology and its transformation after challenge by extracellular ATP in vitro. J Neurosci Res 83:91-101.
- Xiao G, Harhaj EW, Sun SC (2001) NF-kappaB-inducing kinase regulates the processing of NFkappaB2 p100. Mol Cell 7:401-409.
- Yamasaki Y, Matsuura N, Shozuhara H, Onodera H, Itoyama Y, Kogure K (1995) Interleukin-1 as a pathogenetic mediator of ischemic brain damage in rats. Stroke 26:676-680; discussion 681.
- Yan SD, Chen X, Fu J, Chen M, Zhu H, Roher A, Slattery T, Zhao L, Nagashima M, Morser J, Migheli A, Nawroth P, Stern D, Schmidt AM (1996) RAGE and amyloid-beta peptide neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Nature 382:685-691.
- Yan SF, Fujita T, Lu J, Okada K, Shan Zou Y, Mackman N, Pinsky DJ, Stern DM (2000) Egr-1, a master switch coordinating upregulation of divergent gene families underlying ischemic stress. Nat Med 6:1355-1361.
- Yang GY, Gong C, Qin Z, Liu XH, Lorris Betz A (1999) Tumor necrosis factor alpha expression produces increased blood-brain barrier permeability following temporary focal cerebral ischemia in mice. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 69:135-143.
- Yang H, Ochani M, Li J, Qiang X, Tanovic M, Harris HE, Susarla SM, Ulloa L, Wang H, DiRaimo R, Czura CJ, Roth J, Warren HS, Fink MP, Fenton MJ, Andersson U, Tracey KJ (2004) Reversing established sepsis with antagonists of endogenous high-mobility group box 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:296-301.
- Yenari MA, Sun GH, Kunis DM, Onley D, Vexler V (2001) L-selectin inhibition does not reduce injury in a rabbit model of transient focal cerebral ischemia. Neurol Res 23:72-78.
- Yi JH, Park SW, Kapadia R, Vemuganti R (2007) Role of transcription factors in mediating postischemic cerebral inflammation and brain damage. Neurochem Int 50:1014-1027.
- Yokota C, Kaji T, Kuge Y, Inoue H, Tamaki N, Minematsu K (2004) Temporal and topographic profiles of cyclooxygenase-2 expression during 24 h of focal brain ishemia in rats. Neurosci Lett 357:219-222.

- Zeng S, Feirt N, Goldstein M, Guarrera J, Ippagunta N, Ekong U, Dun H, Lu Y, Qu W, Schmidt AM, Emond JC (2004) Blockade of receptor for advanced glycation end product (RAGE) attenuates ischemia and reperfusion injury to the liver in mice. Hepatology 39:422-432.
- Zhai DX, Kong QF, Xu WS, Bai SS, Peng HS, Zhao K, Li GZ, Wang DD, Sun B, Wang JH, Wang GY, Li HL (2008) RAGE expression is up-regulated in human cerebral ischemia and pMCAO rats. Neurosci Lett.
- Zhang LH, Wei EQ (2003) Neuroprotective effect of ONO-1078, a leukotriene receptor antagonist, on transient global cerebral ischemia in rats. Acta Pharmacol Sin 24:1241-1247.
- Zhang RL, Chopp M, Jiang N, Tang WX, Prostak J, Manning AM, Anderson DC (1995) Antiintercellular adhesion molecule-1 antibody reduces ischemic cell damage after transient but not permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion in the Wistar rat. Stroke 26:1438-1442.
- Zhao BQ, Wang S, Kim HY, Storrie H, Rosen BR, Mooney DJ, Wang X, Lo EH (2006) Role of matrix metalloproteinases in delayed cortical responses after stroke. Nat Med 12:441-445.
- Zheng Z, Yenari MA (2004) Post-ischemic inflammation: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Neurol Res 26:884-892.
- Zhou L, Zhang HX, Liu LG, Huang H, Li X, Yang M (2008) [Effect of scalp-acupuncture on plasma and cerebral TNF-alpha and IL-1beta contents in acute cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury rats]. Zhen Ci Yan Jiu 33:173-178.
- Zhou P, Qian L, Chou T, Iadecola C (2008) Neuroprotection by PGE2 receptor EP1 inhibition involves the PTEN/AKT pathway. Neurobiol Dis 29:543-551.
- Zimmerman GA, Meistrell M, 3rd, Bloom O, Cockroft KM, Bianchi M, Risucci D, Broome J, Farmer P, Cerami A, Vlassara H, Tracey KJ (1995) Neurotoxicity of advanced glycation endproducts during focal stroke and neuroprotective effects of aminoguanidine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:3744-3748.
- Zonta M, Angulo MC, Gobbo S, Rosengarten B, Hossmann KA, Pozzan T, Carmignoto G (2003) Neuron-to-astrocyte signaling is central to the dynamic control of brain microcirculation. Nat Neurosci 6:43-50.

1- Sajjad Muhammad,* <u>Waleed Barakat</u>,* Stoyan Stoyanov, Sasidhar Murikinati, Huan Yang, Kevin J. Tracey,Martin Bendszus, Grazisa Rossetti, Peter P. Nawroth, Angelika Bierhaus, and Markus Schwaninger

"The HMGB1 receptor RAGE mediates ischemic brain damage".,

J Neurosci 28:12023-12031, 2008 •

*S.M. and W.B. contributed equally to this work.

2- Waleed Barakat, Anne Regnier-Vigouroux and Markus Schwaninger

"Regulation of prostaglandin E₂ release in cerebral ischemia"

In preparation.

Curriculum Vitae



Name	Waleed Mohamed Adel BARAKAT
Date and place of Birth	25-12-1974, Belbies, El-Sharkia, Egypt.
Address	
Germany Egypt	Dalbergstr. 29, 68159 Mannheim, Germany. Saad Zaghloulstr. 91, Belbies, El-Sharkia, Egypt.
Email address	waled055@yahoo.com waleed.barakat@pharma.uni-heidelberg.de
Nationality	Egyptian
Education	
1980-1985	Primary School,
1986-1988	Preparatory School,
1989-1991	Secondary School
1992-1997	Faculty of Pharmacy, Zagazig University, Egypt.
1999-2003	Master of Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Zagazig University, Egypt.
2005- present	Prof. Dr. Markus Schwaninger research group at the Department of Neurology and Institute of Pharmacology, University of Heidelberg.
Working Experience	1998-2005 Assistant lecturer in the Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Zagazig University, Egypt.